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Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
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PART I

ITEM 1.BUSINESS.

GENERAL.

Abercrombie & Fitch Co. (“A&F”), a company incorporated in Delaware in 1996, through its subsidiaries (collectively,
A&F and its subsidiaries are referred to as “Abercrombie & Fitch” or the “Company”), is a specialty retailer that operates
stores and direct-to-consumer operations. Through these channels, the Company sells a broad array of products,
including: casual sportswear apparel, including knit and woven shirts, graphic t-shirts, fleece, jeans and woven pants,
shorts, sweaters, and outerwear; personal care products; and accessories for men, women and kids under the
Abercrombie & Fitch, abercrombie kids, and Hollister brands. The Company also sells bras, underwear, personal care
products, sleepwear and at-home products for girls through Hollister under the Gilly Hicks brand. As of January 31,
2015, the Company operated 799 stores in the United States (“U.S.”) and 170 stores outside of the U.S.

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to January 31, typically resulting in a fifty-two week year, but
occasionally giving rise to an additional week, resulting in a fifty-three week year as was the case for Fiscal 2012.
Fiscal years are designated in the consolidated financial statements and notes, as well as the remainder of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, by the calendar year in which the fiscal year commenced. All references herein to “Fiscal 2014”
represent the fifty-two week fiscal year ended January 31, 2015; to “Fiscal 2013” represent the fifty-two week fiscal
year ended February 1, 2014; and to “Fiscal 2012” represent the fifty-three week fiscal year ended February 2, 2013. In
addition, all references herein to “Fiscal 2015” represent the 52-week fiscal year that will end on January 30, 2016.

A&F makes available free of charge on its Internet website, www.abercrombie.com, under “Investors, SEC Filings,” its
annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), as well as A&F’s definitive proxy materials filed pursuant to Section 14 of the Exchange Act, as soon
as reasonably practicable after A&F electronically files such material with, or furnishes it to, the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The SEC maintains a website that contains electronic filings by A&F and other issuers
at www.sec.gov. In addition, the public may read and copy any materials A&F files with the SEC at the SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation
of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

The Company has included its Internet website addresses throughout this filing as textual references only. The
information contained within these Internet websites is not incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

LONG-TERM OBJECTIVES.

Our objectives are focused on improving return on invested capital through a combination of improving operating
margin and continuing our disciplined approach to capital allocation.

While the specifics of our strategy may change over time, our current priorities to improve operating margin include:

•Improving store productivity and profitability
•Selective international growth
•Increasing direct-to-consumer and omnichannel penetration
•Reducing expense

Our approach to capital allocation includes:
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•Continuing to invest in projects that generate the highest risk-adjusted return
•Returning cash to shareholders, subject to suitable market conditions and available liquidity
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DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS.

Brands.

Abercrombie & Fitch.    Abercrombie & Fitch stands for effortless American style. Since 1892, the brand has been
known for its attention to detail with designs that embody simplicity and casual luxury. Rooted in a heritage of quality
craftsmanship, Abercrombie & Fitch continues to bring its customers iconic, modern classics with an aspirational
look, feel, and attitude.

abercrombie kids.    abercrombie kids stands for American style with a fun, youthful attitude. Known for its
made-to-play durability, comfort and on-trend designs, abercrombie kids makes cool, classic clothing that kids truly
want to wear.

Hollister.    Hollister is the fantasy of Southern California. Inspired by beautiful beaches, open blue skies, and
sunshine, Hollister lives the dream of an endless summer. Hollister's laidback lifestyle makes every design effortlessly
cool and totally accessible. Hollister brings Southern California to the world.

Refer to the “FINANCIAL SUMMARY” in “ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information
regarding net sales and other financial and operational data by segment and by brand.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT SEGMENTS.

The Company determines its segments on the same basis that it uses to allocate resources and assess performance. All
of the Company’s segments sell a similar group of products — casual sportswear apparel, personal care products and
accessories for men, women and kids and bras, underwear and sleepwear for girls. The Company had three reportable
segments as of January 31, 2015: U.S. Stores, International Stores and Direct-to-Consumer. Refer to Note 17,
“SEGMENT REPORTING,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion of the
Company’s reportable segments. The Company is currently reviewing its reportable segments in the context of its
recent transition to a brand-based organizational model.

STORE OPERATIONS.

At the end of Fiscal 2014, the Company operated 969 stores. The following table details the number of retail stores
operated by the Company at January 31, 2015:

Fiscal 2014 Abercrombie &
Fitch

abercrombie
kids Hollister Total

U.S. 250 116 433 799
International 29 6 135 170
Total 279 122 568 969

DIRECT-TO-CONSUMER OPERATIONS.

The Company operates websites for each brand, both domestically and internationally. The websites reinforce each
particular brand’s lifestyle, and are designed to complement the in-store experience. Total net sales through
direct-to-consumer operations, including shipping and handling revenue, were $832.5 million for Fiscal 2014,
representing 22% of total net sales. The Company operates 46 websites, including both desktop and mobile versions.
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In addition, the websites are available in 10 languages, accept nine currencies and ship to over 120 countries.

OMNICHANNEL.

By increasing omnichannel efforts, the Company is working toward providing customers with a more integrated and
convenient shopping experience both online and in-store, including enabling "ship-from-store" and "order-in store."
The Company also expects to have "reserve-in-store" and "in-store-pickup" activated in its U.S. stores during Fiscal
2015, and is working on extending its omnichannel capabilities to Europe. The brands continue to evolve their
consumer engagement strategies by developing and tailoring digital communication to connect with customers on a
more personal level.

4
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MARKETING AND ADVERTISING.

The Company is in the process of evolving its consumer engagement strategy, going beyond its iconic in-store
experiences to further develop digital experiences. In-store experiences are designed to captivate the senses to
reinforce the aspirational lifestyle represented by each brand and flagship stores represent the pinnacle of the
Company's in-store branding efforts. The brands also have a strong fan base of globally diverse followers on key
social platforms, such as Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Weibo. The brands engage with fans as well as key
influencers such as celebrities, bloggers, and stylists to communicate fashion stories. In addition, the A&F and
Hollister customer relationship management programs provide a platform to develop direct relationships with more
than 10 million marketable contacts in the Company's database.

MERCHANDISE SUPPLIERS.

During Fiscal 2014, the Company sourced merchandise through approximately 150 vendors located throughout the
world, primarily in Asia and Central America. The Company did not source more than 10% of its merchandise from
any single factory or supplier during Fiscal 2014. The Company pursues a global sourcing strategy that includes
relationships with vendors in 12 countries, as well as the U.S. The Company’s foreign sourcing of merchandise is
negotiated and settled in U.S. Dollars.

All product sources, including independent manufacturers and suppliers, must achieve and maintain the Company’s
high quality standards, which are an integral part of the Company’s identity. The Company has established supplier
product quality standards to ensure the high quality of fabrics and other materials used in the Company’s products. The
Company utilizes both home office and field employees to help monitor compliance with the Company’s product
quality standards.

Before the Company begins production with any factory, the factory must first go through a quality assurance
assessment to ensure it meets Company standards. This includes factories that are subcontractors to the factories and
vendors with whom the Company works. All factories are contractually required to adhere to our vendor Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics, and all factories go through social audits, which includes a factory walk-through to
appraise the physical working conditions and health and safety practices, as well as payroll and age document review.
Social audits on the factories are performed at least every two years after the initial audit. The Company strives to
partner with suppliers who respect local laws and share our dedication to utilize best practices in human rights, labor
rights, environmental practices and workplace safety.

DISTRIBUTION AND MERCHANDISE INVENTORY.

The Company’s merchandise is shipped to the Company’s distribution centers (“DCs”) where it is received and inspected
before being shipped to stores or direct-to-consumer customers. The Company uses its two DCs in New Albany, Ohio
to support its North American stores and direct-to-consumer business for customers outside of Europe and Asia. The
Company expects to have substantially completed a $50 million conversion of one of its New Albany DCs to a
dedicated direct-to-consumer facility in the second quarter of Fiscal 2015. The Company uses a third-party DC in the
Netherlands for the distribution of merchandise to stores and direct-to-consumer customers located in Europe, a
third-party DC in China for the distribution of merchandise to stores and direct-to-consumer customers located in
China, a third-party DC in Hong Kong for the distribution of merchandise to stores in Asia and Australia, and
direct-to-consumer customers located in Asia, and a third-party DC in the United Arab Emirates for the distribution of
merchandise to stores located in the Middle East. The Company utilizes primarily one contract carrier to ship
merchandise and related materials to its North American stores and direct-to-consumer customers, and several
contract carriers for its European and Asian stores and direct-to-consumer customers.
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The Company strives to maintain sufficient quantities of inventory in its retail stores and DCs to offer customers a full
selection of current merchandise. The Company attempts to balance in-stock levels and inventory turnover, and to
take markdowns when required to keep merchandise fresh and current with fashion trends.

INFORMATION SYSTEMS.

The Company’s management information systems consist of a full range of retail, merchandising and financial
systems. The systems include applications related to point-of-sale, direct-to-consumer, inventory management, supply
chain, planning, sourcing, merchandising and financial reporting. The Company continues to invest in technology to
upgrade core systems to make the Company scalable and enhance efficiencies, including the support of its
direct-to-consumer operations and international store operations.

5
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SEASONAL BUSINESS.

The retail apparel market has two principal selling seasons: the Spring season which includes the first and second
fiscal quarters (“Spring”); and the Fall season which includes the third and fourth fiscal quarters (“Fall”). As is typical in
the apparel industry, the Company experiences its greatest sales activity during the Fall season due to the
Back-to-School (August) and Holiday (November and December) selling periods, particularly in the U.S.

TRADEMARKS.

The Abercrombie & Fitch®, abercrombie®, Hollister®, Gilly Hicks®, “Moose” and “Seagull” trademarks are registered
with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and registered or pending with the registries of countries where stores are
located or likely to be located in the future. In addition, these trademarks are either registered, or the Company has
applications for registration pending, with the registries of many of the foreign countries in which the manufacturers
of the Company’s products are located. The Company has also registered, or has applied to register, certain other
trademarks in the U.S. and around the world. The Company believes its products are identified by its trademarks and,
therefore, its trademarks are of significant value. Each registered trademark has a duration of ten to 20 years,
depending on the date it was registered, and the country in which it is registered, and is subject to an indefinite number
of renewals for a like period upon continued use and appropriate application. The Company intends to continue using
its core trademarks and to renew each of its registered trademarks that remain in use.

OTHER INFORMATION.

Additional information about the Company’s business, including its revenues and profits for the last three fiscal years
and gross square footage of stores, is set forth under “ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

COMPETITION.

The sale of apparel, accessories and personal care products through stores and direct-to-consumer channels is a highly
competitive business with numerous participants, including individual and chain fashion specialty stores, as well as
regional and national department stores. As the Company continues expanding internationally, it also faces
competition in local markets from established chains, as well as local specialty stores. Brand recognition, fashion,
price, service, store location, selection and quality are the principal competitive factors in retail store and
direct-to-consumer sales.

The competitive challenges facing the Company include: anticipating and quickly responding to changing fashion
trends and maintaining the aspirational positioning of its brands. Furthermore, the Company faces additional
competitive challenges as many retailers continue promotional activities, particularly in the U.S. In response to these
conditions, the Company has engaged in promotional activity and increased its focus on operating efficiency while
seeking to preserve the value of its brands.

ASSOCIATE RELATIONS.

As of March 26, 2015, the Company employed approximately 65,000 associates, of which approximately 57,000 were
part-time associates, which equates to approximately 6,000 full-time equivalents. On average, the Company employed
approximately 18,000 full-time equivalents during Fiscal 2014.

The Company believes it maintains a good relationship with its associates. However, in the normal course of business,
the Company is party to lawsuits involving former and current associates.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS.

Compliance with domestic and international regulations related to environmental matters has not had, nor is it
expected to have, any material effect on capital expenditures, earnings, or the Company’s competitive position based
on information and circumstances known to us at this time.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT.

Set forth below is certain information regarding the executive officers of A&F as of March 26, 2015:

Jonathan E. Ramsden, 50, has been Chief Operating Officer of A&F since January 2014, and Interim Principal
Executive Officer and a member of the Office of the Chairman of A&F since December 2014. Mr. Ramsden also
served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of A&F from December 2008 to May 2014. From
December 1998 to December 2008, Mr. Ramsden served as Chief Financial Officer and a member of the Executive
Committee of TBWA Worldwide, a large advertising agency network and a division of Omnicom Group Inc. Prior to
becoming Chief Financial Officer of TWBA Worldwide, he served as Controller and Principal Accounting Officer of
Omnicom Group Inc. from June 1996 to December 1998.

Christos E. Angelides, 52, has been Brand President of Abercrombie & Fitch and abercrombie kids since October
2014 and a member of the Office of the Chairman of A&F since December 2014. Prior to joining A&F, Mr. Angelides
spent 28 years with Next plc, a multi-billion dollar fashion retail and Internet chain based in the United Kingdom,
where he served as Group Product Director and a member of the Board of Directors from 2000 to September 2014.
Prior thereto, he held a number of senior management roles with Next including General Manager of Next's sourcing
office in Hong Kong, Womenswear Product Director and Menswear Product Director, and served as Chairman of
Next Sourcing Limited and Non-Executive Director of Lipsy, a young women's fashion brand owned by Next.

Robert E. Bostrom, 62, has been Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of A&F since
January 2014. Since August 2014, Mr. Bostrom has been a member of the Board of Directors of NeuLion, Inc. From
December 2012 until December 2013, Mr. Bostrom was Co-Chairman of the Financial Regulatory and Compliance
Practice of Greenberg Traurig LLP, an international law firm. From August 2011 until November 2012, Mr. Bostrom
was Co-Head of the Global Financial Institutions and Funds Sector of Dentons US LLP (formerly, SNR Denton), an
international law firm. From February 2006 to August 2011, Mr. Bostrom was Executive Vice President, General
Counsel and Corporate Secretary of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (also known as Freddie Mac).
Prior to Freddie Mac, Mr. Bostrom was the Managing Partner of the New York office of Winston & Strawn LLP, a
Member of that Firm’s Executive Committee and Head of its Financial Institutions Practice.

Diane Chang, 59, has been Executive Vice President — Sourcing of A&F since May 2004. Prior thereto, Ms. Chang
held the position of Senior Vice President — Sourcing of A&F from February 2000 to May 2004 and the position of
Vice President — Sourcing of A&F from May 1998 to February 2000.

Joanne C. Crevoiserat, 51, has been Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of A&F since May 2014.
Prior to joining A&F, she served in a number of senior management roles at Kohl's Inc., which operates
family-oriented department stores and a website featuring apparel, footwear, accessories, soft home products and
housewares. From June 2012 to April 2014, Ms. Crevoiserat was the Executive Vice President of Finance of Kohl's
and from November 2008 to June 2012, she served as the Executive Vice President of Merchandise Planning and
Allocation of Kohl's. Prior to her time with Kohl's, Ms. Crevoiserat held senior finance positions with Wal-Mart
Stores and May Department Stores, including Chief Financial Officer of the Filene's, Foley's and Famous-Barr brands.

Fran Horowitz, 51, has been Brand President of Hollister since October 2014 and a member of the Office of the
Chairman of A&F since December 2014. Before joining Hollister, from October 2013 to October 2014, Ms. Horowitz
served as the President of Ann Taylor Loft, a division of Ann Inc., the parent company of three specialty retail fashion
brands in North America. Prior to her time with Ann Taylor Loft, from February 2005 to October 2012, she held
various roles at Express, Inc., a specialty apparel and accessories retailer of women's and men's merchandise,
including Executive Vice President of Women's Merchandising and Design from May 2010 to November 2012.
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Before her time with Express, Inc., Ms. Horowitz spent 13 years at Bloomingdale's in various women's merchandising
roles, including Vice President Divisional Merchandise Manager.

Amy L. Zehrer, 45, has been Executive Vice President — Store and Brand Services of A&F since February 2015. Prior
thereto, Ms. Zehrer held the position of Executive Vice President — Stores of A&F from February 2013 to February
2015, the position of Senior Vice President — Stores of A&F from November 2007 to February 2013 and the position of
Vice President — Stores of A&F from August 2006 to November 2007. Ms. Zehrer has been with A&F since 1992
playing an integral part in evolving the brands and the success of the Company's international expansion.

The executive officers serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors of A&F.

7
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ITEM 1A.RISK FACTORS

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND RISK FACTORS.

We caution that any forward-looking statements (as such term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995) contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or made by us, our management or our spokespeople
involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various factors, many of which may be beyond our
control. Words such as “estimate,” “project,” “plan,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend” and similar expressions may identify
forward-looking statements. Except as may be required by applicable law, we assume no obligation to publicly update
or revise our forward-looking statements.

The following factors could affect our financial performance and could cause actual results to differ materially from
those expressed or implied in any of the forward-looking statements:

•
changes in global economic and financial conditions, and the resulting impact on consumer confidence and consumer
spending, as well as other changes in consumer discretionary spending habits, could have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations and liquidity;

•the inability to manage our inventory commensurate with customer demand and changing fashion trends couldadversely impact our sales levels and profitability;

•fluctuations in the cost, availability and quality of raw materials, labor and transportation, could cause manufacturingdelays and increase our costs;

• we are currently involved in a selection process for a new Chief Executive Officer and if this selection process is
delayed our business could be negatively impacted;

•failure to realize the anticipated benefits of our recent transition to a brand-based organizational model could have anegative impact on our business;

•
a significant component of our growth strategy is international expansion, which requires significant capital
investment, the success of which is dependent on a number of factors that could delay or prevent the profitability of
our international operations;

•direct-to-consumer sales channels are a focus of our growth strategy, and the failure to successfully develop ourposition in these channels could have an adverse impact on our results of operations;

•our inability to successfully implement our strategic plans could have a negative impact on our growth andprofitability;

•fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could adversely impact our financial condition and results ofoperations;
•our business could suffer if our information technology systems are disrupted or cease to operate effectively;

• we may be exposed to risks and costs associated with cyber-attacks, credit card fraud and identity theft that
would cause us to incur unexpected expenses and loss of revenues;

•our market share may be negatively impacted by increasing competition and pricing pressures from companies withbrands or merchandise competitive with ours;

•our ability to attract customers to our stores depends, in part, on the success of the shopping malls or area attractionsin which most of our stores are located;
•our failure to protect our reputation could have a material adverse effect on our brands;

• we rely on the experience and skills of our senior executive officers, the loss of whom could have a material
adverse effect on our business;

•we depend upon independent third parties for the manufacture and delivery of all our merchandise, a disruption ofwhich could result in lost sales and could increase our costs;
•
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our reliance on two distribution centers domestically and third-party distribution centers internationally makes us
susceptible to disruptions or adverse conditions affecting our distribution centers;

•we may be exposed to liabilities under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and any determination that we violated theForeign Corrupt Practices Act could have a material adverse effect on our business;

•in a number of our European stores, associates are represented by workers’ councils and unions, whose demands couldadversely affect our profitability or operating standards for our brands;

•
our facilities, systems and stores, as well as the facilities and systems of our vendors and manufacturers, are
vulnerable to natural disasters, pandemic disease and other unexpected events, any of which could result in an
interruption to our business and adversely affect our operating results;
•our litigation exposure could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations;

•our inability or failure to adequately protect our trademarks could have a negative impact on our brand image andlimit our ability to penetrate new markets;
•fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rate may result in volatility in our operating results;

8
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•extreme weather conditions and the seasonal nature of our business may cause net sales to fluctuate and negativelyimpact our results of operations;

•the impact of war or acts of terrorism could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financialcondition;
•changes in the regulatory or compliance landscape could adversely affect our business and results of operations;

•our Asset-Based Revolving Credit Agreement and our Term Loan Agreement include restrictive covenants that limitour flexibility in operating our business; and,

•compliance with changing regulations and standards for accounting, corporate governance and public disclosure couldadversely affect our business, results of operations and reported financial results.

The following sets forth a description of the preceding risk factors that we believe may be relevant to an
understanding of our business. These risk factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed
or implied in any of our forward-looking statements.

Changes in global economic and financial conditions, and the resulting impact on consumer confidence and consumer
spending, as well as other changes in consumer discretionary spending habits, could have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations and liquidity.

Our business depends on consumer demand for our merchandise. Consumer purchases of discretionary items,
including our merchandise, generally decline during recessionary periods and other periods where disposable income
is adversely affected. Our performance is subject to factors that affect worldwide economic conditions including
unemployment, consumer credit availability, consumer debt levels, reductions in net worth based on declines in the
financial, residential real estate and mortgage markets, sales tax rates and tax rate increases, fuel and energy prices,
interest rates, consumer confidence in future economic and political conditions, consumer perceptions of personal
well-being and security, the value of the U.S. Dollar versus foreign currencies and other macroeconomic factors.
Additionally, consumer preferences and discretionary spending habits have changed in recent years, which has
negatively impacted, and may continue to negatively impact, the retail apparel market. Global economic uncertainty
and changing consumer preferences and discretionary spending habits could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations, liquidity and capital resources if reduced consumer demand for our merchandise should occur. It
could also impact our ability to fund growth and/or result in our becoming reliant on external financing, the
availability and cost of which may be uncertain.

The economic conditions and factors described above could adversely affect the productivity of our stores, as well as
adversely affect the pace of opening new stores, or their productivity once opened. Finally, the economic environment
may exacerbate some of the risks noted below, including consumer demand, strain on available resources, our
international growth strategy, availability of real estate, interruption of the flow of merchandise from key vendors and
manufacturers, and foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

The inability to manage our inventory commensurate with customer demand and changing fashion trends could
adversely impact our sales levels and profitability.

Our success largely depends on our ability to anticipate and gauge the fashion preferences of our customers and
provide merchandise that satisfies constantly shifting demands in a timely manner. Our merchandise and our brands
must appeal to our consumers, whose preferences change frequently and cannot be predicted with certainty. We must
translate market trends into appropriate, saleable merchandise far in advance of its sale in our stores or through our
websites. Because we enter into agreements for the manufacture and purchase of merchandise well in advance of the
applicable selling season, we are vulnerable to changes in consumer preferences and demand, pricing shifts, and the
sub-optimal selection and timing of merchandise purchases. Moreover, there can be no assurance that we will
continue to anticipate consumer demands and accurately plan inventory successfully in the future. Changing consumer

Edgar Filing: ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO /DE/ - Form 10-K

16



preferences and fashion trends, whether we are able to anticipate, identify and respond to them or not, could adversely
impact our sales. Inventory levels for certain merchandise styles no longer considered to be “on trend” may increase,
leading to higher markdowns to sell through excess inventory and therefore, lower than planned margins. A distressed
economic and retail environment, in which many of our competitors continue to engage in aggressive promotional
activities increases the importance of reacting appropriately to changing consumer preferences and fashion trends.
Conversely, if we underestimate consumer demand for our merchandise, or if our manufacturers fail to supply quality
products in a timely manner, we may experience inventory shortages, which may negatively impact customer
relationships, diminish brand loyalty and result in lost sales. Any of these events could significantly harm our
operating results and financial condition.

9
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Fluctuations in the cost, availability and quality of raw materials, labor and transportation, could cause manufacturing
delays and increase our costs.

Fluctuations in the cost, availability and quality of the fabrics or other raw materials used to manufacture our
merchandise could have a material adverse effect on our cost of goods, or our ability to meet customer demand. The
prices for such fabrics depend largely on the market prices for the raw materials used to produce them, particularly
cotton, as well as the cost of compliance with sourcing laws. The price and availability of such raw materials may
fluctuate significantly, depending on many factors, including crop yields and weather patterns. Such factors may be
exacerbated by legislation and regulations associated with global climate change. In addition, the cost of labor at many
of our third-party manufacturers has been increasing significantly, and as the middle class in developing countries
continues to grow, it is unlikely such cost pressure will abate. The Company is also susceptible to fluctuations in the
cost of transportation. We may not be able to pass all or a portion of higher raw materials prices or labor or
transportation costs on to our customers, which could adversely affect our gross margin and results of our operations.

We are currently involved in a selection process for a new Chief Executive Officer and if this selection process is
delayed our business could be negatively impacted.

On December 8, 2014, Michael S. Jeffries retired from the position of Chief Executive Officer and resigned from the
position of Director of the Company. Our Board of Directors appointed Arthur C. Martinez to serve as Executive
Chairman of the Company, created an Office of the Chairman, and initiated a selection process to identify a new Chief
Executive Officer. The selection process for a new Chief Executive Officer may create uncertainty about our business
and future direction. To the extent there is a material delay in choosing a new Chief Executive Officer, our business
could be negatively impacted.

Failure to realize the anticipated benefits of our recent transition to a brand-based organizational model could have a
negative impact on our business.

As part of our transition to a brand-based organizational model, the Company hired Christos E. Angelides as the
Brand President of Abercrombie & Fitch and abercrombie kids and Fran Horowitz as the Brand President of Hollister.
Failure to realize the anticipated benefits of our recent transition to a brand-based organizational model could have a
negative impact on our business. In addition, realization of the anticipated benefits of this new brand-based
organizational model is dependent on the effectiveness of this new management structure.

A significant component of our growth strategy is international expansion, which requires significant capital
investment, the success of which is dependent on a number of factors that could delay or prevent the profitability of
our international operations.

Our growth strategy includes the opening of new international stores. International expansion has placed, and will
continue to place, increased demands on our operational, managerial and administrative resources at all levels of the
Company. These increased demands may cause us to operate our business less efficiently, which in turn could cause
deterioration in the performance of our existing stores or could adversely affect our inventory levels. Furthermore, our
ability to conduct business in international markets may be adversely affected by legal, regulatory, policital and
economic risks. In addition, as we expand internationally, we may incur significant costs related to starting up and
maintaining foreign operations. Costs may include, but are not limited to, obtaining prime locations for stores, setting
up foreign offices and distribution centers, hiring experienced management and maintaining good relations with
individual associates and groups of associates. We may be unable to open and operate new stores successfully, or we
may face operational issues that delay our intended pace of international store openings and, in any such case, our
growth may be limited, unless we can:
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•identify suitable markets and sites for store locations;

•address the different operational characteristics present in each country to which we expand, including employmentand labor, transportation, logistics, real estate, lease provisions and local reporting or legal requirements;

•negotiate acceptable lease terms, in some cases in locations in which the relative rights and obligations of landlordsand tenants differ significantly from the customs and practices in the U.S.;
•hire, train and retain qualified store personnel;
•gain and retain acceptance from foreign customers;
•manage inventory effectively to meet the needs of new and existing stores on a timely basis;
•integrate new stores into existing operations and expand infrastructure to accommodate growth;

•foster current relationships and develop new relationships with vendors that are capable of supplying a greater volumeof merchandise;

•generate sufficient operating cash flows or secure adequate capital on commercially reasonable terms to fund ourexpansion plan;

10
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•manage foreign currency exchange risks effectively; and
•achieve acceptable operating margins from new stores.

Failure to successfully implement our international expansion initiatives as a result of one or more of the factors above
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or could otherwise adversely affect our ability to
achieve our growth strategy objectives.

Direct-to-consumer sales channels are a focus of our growth strategy, and the failure to successfully develop our
position in these channels could have an adverse impact on our results of operations.

We sell merchandise for each brand over the Internet, both domestically and internationally. We have made significant
investments in capital spending and labor to develop these channels, invested in digital media to attract new customers
and developed localized fulfillment, shipping and customer service operations. There is no assurance that we will be
able to continue to successfully maintain or expand our direct-to-consumer sales channels. Our reliance on
direct-to-consumer sales channels make us vulnerable to shifting consumer traffic patterns, customer data breaches,
direct-to-consumer buying trends and strength of brand perception. Changes in foreign governmental regulations
relating to direct-to-consumer sales may also negatively impact our ability to deliver product to our customers. Our
inability to adequately respond to these risks and uncertainties or to successfully maintain and expand our
direct-to-consumer business may have an adverse impact on our results of operations.

In addition, direct-to-consumer operations are subject to numerous risks, including reliance on third-party computer
hardware/software providers, violations of state, federal or international laws, including those relating to online
privacy, credit card fraud, telecommunication failures and electronic break-ins and similar disruptions, and disruption
of Internet service. Our failure to successfully respond to these risks might adversely affect sales in our
direct-to-consumer business as well as damage our reputation and brands.

Our inability to successfully implement our strategic plans could have a negative impact on our growth and
profitability.

Our long-term strategy includes four key objectives: recovering store productivity and profitability, continuing
selective international expansion, increasing direct-to-consumer and omnichannel penetration, and process
improvement and expense efficiency. Our ability to execute these strategies successfully and in a timely fashion is
subject to various risks and uncertainties as described under this “Risk Factors” section. Specifically, these risks can be
categorized into market risk, execution risk and customer resonance risk. Market risk includes consumer spending,
actions of brand competitors and changes in demographics or preferences of our target customer. Achieving the goals
of our long-term strategy is also dependent on us executing the strategy successfully. Finally, the initiatives we
implement in connection with our long-term strategy may not resonate with our customers. It may take longer than
anticipated to generate the expected benefits from our long-term strategy and there can be no guarantee that these
initiatives will result in improved operating results. In addition, failure to successfully implement our long-term
strategy could have a negative impact on our growth and profitability.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could adversely impact our financial condition and results of
operations.

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is generally the local currency in which each operates, which
includes Australian Dollars, British Pounds, Canadian Dollars, Chinese Yuan, Danish Kroner, Euros, Hong Kong
Dollars, Japanese Yen, Kuwaiti Dinars, New Taiwan Dollars, Polish Zloty, Singapore Dollars, South Korean Won,
Swedish Kronor, Swiss Francs and United Arab Emirates Dirhams. Our consolidated financial statements are
presented in U.S. Dollars. Therefore, we must translate revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities from functional
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currencies into U.S. Dollars at exchange rates in effect during, or at the end of the reporting period. In addition, our
international subsidiaries transact in currencies other than their functional currency, including intercompany
transactions, which results in foreign currency transaction gains or losses. The fluctuation in the value of the U.S.
Dollar against other currencies has, at times, adversely impacted, and may continue to adversely impact, our financial
results. Additionally, tourism spending may be affected by changes in currency exchange rates, and as a result, sales
in our flagship stores and other stores with higher tourism traffic have, at times, been adversely impacted, and may
continue to be adversely impacted, by fluctuations in currency exchange rates.

Furthermore, we purchase substantially our entire inventory in U.S. Dollars. As a result, our gross margin rate from
international operations is subject to volatility from movements in exchange rates over time, which could have an
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations and profitability from the growth desired from
international operations.

11
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Our business could suffer if our information technology systems are disrupted or cease to operate effectively.

We rely heavily on our information technology systems to operate our websites; record and process transactions;
respond to customer inquiries; manage inventory; purchase, sell and ship merchandise on a timely basis; and maintain
cost-efficient operations. Given the significant number of transactions that are completed annually, it is vital to
maintain constant operation of our computer hardware and software systems and maintain cyber security. Despite
efforts to prevent such an occurrence, our information technology systems may be vulnerable from time to time to
damage or interruption from computer viruses, power outages, third-party intrusions and other technical malfunctions.
If our systems are damaged, or fail to function properly, we may have to make monetary investments to repair or
replace the systems, and we could endure delays in our operations.

While we regularly evaluate our information technology systems and requirements, we are aware of the inherent risks
associated with replacing and modifying these systems, including inaccurate system information, system disruptions
and user acceptance and understanding. Any material disruption or slowdown of our systems, including a disruption
or slowdown caused by our failure to successfully upgrade our systems, could cause information, including data
related to customer orders, to be lost or delayed. Such a loss or delay, especially if the disruption or slowdown
occurred during our peak selling seasons, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We may be exposed to risks and costs associated with cyber-attacks, credit card fraud and identity theft that would
cause us to incur unexpected expenses and loss of revenues.

In the standard course of business, we process customer information, including payment information, through our
stores and direct-to-consumer programs. There is an increased concern over the security of personal information
transmitted over the Internet, consumer identity theft and user privacy. We endeavor to protect consumer identity and
payment information through the implementation of security technologies, processes and procedures. It is possible
that an individual or group could defeat our security measures and access sensitive customer and associate
information. Actual or anticipated cyber-attacks may cause us to incur increasing costs, including costs to deploy
additional personnel and protective technologies, train employees, and engage third-party experts and consultants.
Exposure of customer data through any means could materially harm A&F by, but not limited to, reputation loss,
regulatory fines and penalties, legal liability and costs of litigation.

Our market share may be negatively impacted by increasing competition and pricing pressures from companies with
brands or merchandise competitive with ours.

The sale of apparel and personal care products through stores and direct-to-consumer channels is a highly competitive
business with numerous participants, including individual and chain fashion specialty stores, as well as regional,
national and international department stores. The substantial sales growth in the direct-to-consumer channel within the
last few years has encouraged the entry of many new competitors and an increase in competition from established
companies. We face a variety of competitive challenges, including:

•anticipating and quickly responding to changing consumer demands or preferences better than our competitors;

•maintaining favorable brand recognition and effectively marketing our products to consumers in several diversedemographic markets;
•sourcing merchandise efficiently;

•developing innovative, high-quality merchandise in styles that appeal to our consumers and in ways that favorablydistinguish us from our competitors; and

•countering the aggressive pricing and promotional activities of many of our competitors without diminishing theaspirational nature of our brands and brand equity.
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In light of the competitive challenges we face, we may not be able to compete successfully in the future. Further,
increases in competition could reduce our sales and harm our operating results and business.

Our ability to attract customers to our stores depends, in part, on the success of the shopping malls or area attractions
in which most of our stores are located.

In order to generate customer traffic, we locate many of our stores in prominent locations within successful shopping
malls or street locations. Our stores benefit from the ability of the malls’ “anchor” tenants, generally large department
stores and other area attractions, to generate consumer traffic in the vicinity of our stores. We cannot control the loss
of an anchor or other significant tenant in a shopping mall in which we have a store; the development of new shopping
malls in the U.S. or around the world; the availability or cost of appropriate locations; competition with other retailers
for prominent locations; or the success of individual shopping malls. All of these factors may impact our ability to
meet our productivity targets for our domestic stores and our growth
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objectives for our international stores and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of
operations. In addition, some malls that were in prominent locations when we opened our stores may cease to be
viewed as prominent. If this trend continues or if the popularity of mall shopping continues to decline generally
among our customers, our sales may decline, which would impact our gross profits and net income.

Part of our future growth is dependent on our ability to operate stores in desirable locations with capital investment
and lease costs providing the opportunity to earn a reasonable return. We cannot be sure as to when or whether such
desirable locations will become available at reasonable costs.

Our failure to protect our reputation could have a material adverse effect on our brands.

Our ability to maintain our reputation is critical to our brands. Our reputation could be jeopardized if we fail to
maintain high standards for merchandise quality and integrity, if our third-party vendors fail to comply with our
vendor code of conduct or as a result of a cyber-attack. Any negative publicity about these types of concerns may
reduce demand for our merchandise. Failure to comply with ethical, social, product, labor, health and safety,
accounting or environmental standards, or related political considerations, could also jeopardize our reputation and
potentially lead to various adverse consumer actions, including boycotts. Public perception about our products or our
stores, whether justified or not, could impair our reputation, involve us in litigation, damage our brands and have a
material adverse effect on our business. Damage to our reputation or loss of consumer confidence for any of these or
other reasons could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition, as well as
require additional resources to rebuild our reputation.

We rely on the experience and skills of our senior executive officers, the loss of whom could have a material adverse
effect on our business.

Our senior executive officers closely supervise all aspects of our business including the design of our merchandise and
the operation of our stores. Our senior executive officers have substantial experience and expertise in the retail
business and have an integral role in the growth and success of our brands. If we were to lose the benefit of their
involvement, our business could be adversely affected. In addition, the new leadership for our major brands will play
an important role in enhancing brand engagement and profitability. Competition for such senior executive officers is
intense, and we cannot be sure we will be able to attract, retain and develop a sufficient number of qualified senior
executive officers in future periods.

We depend upon independent third parties for the manufacture and delivery of all our merchandise, a disruption of
which could result in lost sales and could increase our costs.

We do not own or operate any manufacturing facilities. As a result, the continued success of our operations is tied to
our timely receipt of quality merchandise from third-party manufacturers. We source the majority of our merchandise
outside of the U.S. through arrangements with approximately 150 vendors which includes foreign manufacturers
located throughout the world, primarily in Asia and Central America. In addition, many of our domestic
manufacturers maintain production facilities overseas. Political, social or economic instability in Asia and Central
America, or in other regions in which our manufacturers are located, could cause disruptions in trade, including
exports to the U.S. A manufacturer’s inability to ship orders in a timely manner or meet our quality standards could
cause delays in responding to consumer demands and negatively affect consumer confidence or negatively impact our
competitive position, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations. Other events that could also cause disruptions to exports to the U.S. include the imposition of additional
trade law provisions or regulations, reliance on a limited number of shipping and air carriers, significant labor disputes
and significant delays in the delivery of cargo due to port security considerations. In addition, trade restrictions,
including new or increased tariffs or quotas, embargoes, safeguards and customs restrictions against apparel items, as
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well as U.S. or foreign labor strikes and work stoppages or boycotts, could increase the cost or reduce the supply of
apparel available to us and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

In addition, the efficient operation of our stores and direct-to-consumer business depends on the timely receipt of
merchandise from our distribution centers. We deliver our merchandise to our stores and direct-to-consumer
customers using independent third parties. The independent third parties employ personnel that may be represented by
labor unions. Disruptions in the delivery of merchandise or work stoppages by associates or contractors of any of
these third parties could delay the timely receipt of merchandise. There can be no assurance that such stoppages or
disruptions will not occur in the future. Any failure by a third-party to respond adequately to our distribution needs
would disrupt our operations and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of
operations. Furthermore, we are susceptible to increases in fuel costs which may increase the cost of distribution. If
we are not able to pass this cost on to our customers, our financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected.
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Our reliance on two distribution centers domestically and third-party distribution centers internationally makes us
susceptible to disruptions or adverse conditions affecting our distribution centers.

Our two distribution centers located in New Albany, Ohio, manage the receipt, storage, sorting, packing and
distribution of merchandise to our North American stores and direct-to-consumer customers outside of Europe and
Asia. We also use a third-party distribution center in the Netherlands to manage the receipt, storage, sorting, packing
and distribution of merchandise delivered to our stores and direct-to-consumer customers in Europe; a third-party
distribution center in Hong Kong and a third-party distribution center in China to manage receipt, storage, sorting,
packing and distribution of merchandise delivered to our stores in Asia and Australia and direct-to-consumer
customers in Asia; and a third-party distribution center in the United Arab Emirates to manage, receipt, storage,
sorting, packing and distribution of merchandise delivered to our stores in the Middle East. As a result, our operations
are susceptible to local and regional factors, such as system failures, accidents, economic and weather conditions,
natural disasters, demographic and population changes, as well as other unforeseen events and circumstances. If our
distribution operations were disrupted, our ability to replace inventory in our stores and process direct-to-consumer
orders could be interrupted and sales could be negatively impacted.

We may be exposed to liabilities under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and any determination that we violated the
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act could have a material adverse effect on our business.

As we continue to expand our overseas operations, we are subject to certain U.S. laws, including the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act, in addition to the laws of the foreign countries in which we operate. We must use all commercially
reasonable efforts to ensure our associates comply with these laws. If any of our overseas operations, or our associates
or agents, violate such laws, we could become subject to sanctions or other penalties that could negatively affect our
reputation, business and operating results. Since we use third parties to assist with our international expansion, we
may be exposed to liability for the acts of those third parties, if taken on our behalf, and if in violation of certain U.S.
laws, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.

In a number of our European stores, associates are represented by workers’ councils and unions, whose demands could
adversely affect our profitability or operating standards for our brands.

In a number of our European stores, particularly in France, Germany, Italy and Spain, associates are represented by
workers' councils and unions. These workers’ councils and unions, as well as government officials who support their
positions, may make demands that could adversely affect our profitability or have a negative effect on the operating
standards we believe are critical to our brands. We are committed to working with all of our associates, whether they
are represented by a workers’ council or union or not, and we believe we maintain good relations with our associates;
however, there can be no assurance that we will not experience work stoppages or other labor-related issues that could
have an adverse effect on our profitability or on our operating standards.

Our facilities, systems and stores, as well as the facilities and systems of our vendors and manufacturers, are
vulnerable to natural disasters, pandemic disease and other unexpected events, any of which could result in an
interruption to our business and adversely affect our operating results.

Our retail stores, corporate offices, distribution centers, infrastructure projects and direct-to-consumer operations, as
well as the operations of our vendors and manufacturers, are vulnerable to damage from natural disasters, pandemic
disease and other unexpected events. If any of these events result in damage to our facilities, systems or stores, or the
facilities or systems of our vendors or manufacturers, we may experience interruptions in our business until the
damage is repaired, resulting in the potential loss of customers and revenues. In addition, we may incur costs in
repairing any damage which exceeds our applicable insurance coverage.
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Our litigation exposure could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We are involved, from time to time, in litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. Litigation matters may
include, but are not limited to, contract disputes, employment-related actions, labor relations, commercial litigation,
intellectual property rights and shareholder actions. Any litigation that we become a party to could be costly and time
consuming and could divert our management and key personnel from our business operations. Our current litigation
exposure could change in the event of the discovery of damaging facts with respect to legal matters pending against us
or determinations by judges, juries or other finders of fact that are not in accordance with management’s evaluation of
the claims. Should management’s evaluation prove incorrect, our exposure could greatly exceed expectations and have
a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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Our inability or failure to adequately protect our trademarks could have a negative impact on our brand image and
limit our ability to penetrate new markets.

We believe our core trademarks, Abercrombie & Fitch®, abercrombie®, Hollister®, Gilly Hicks®  and the “Moose” and
“Seagull” logos, are an essential element of our strategy. We have obtained or applied for federal registration of these
trademarks with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and the registries of countries where stores are located or likely
to be located in the future. In addition, we own registrations and have pending applications for other trademarks in the
U.S. and have applied for or obtained registrations from the registries in many foreign countries in which our stores or
our manufacturers are located. There can be no assurance that we will obtain registrations that have been applied for
or that the registrations we obtain will prevent the imitation of our products or infringement of our intellectual
property rights by others. Although brand security initiatives are in place, we cannot guarantee that our efforts against
the counterfeiting of our brands will be successful. If a third-party copies our products in a manner that projects lesser
quality or carries a negative connotation, our brand image could be materially adversely affected.

Because we have not yet registered all of our trademarks in all categories, or in all foreign countries in which we
source or offer our merchandise now, or may in the future, our international expansion and our merchandising of
products using these marks could be limited. The pending applications for international registration of various
trademarks could be challenged or rejected in those countries because third parties of whom we are not currently
aware have already registered similar marks in those countries. Accordingly, it may be possible, in those foreign
countries where the status of various applications is pending or unclear, for a third-party owner of the national
trademark registration for a similar mark to prohibit the manufacture, sale or exportation of branded goods in or from
that country. Our inability to register our trademarks or purchase or license the right to use our trademarks or logos in
these jurisdictions could limit our ability to obtain supplies from, or manufacture in, less costly markets or penetrate
new markets should our business plan include selling our merchandise in those non-U.S. jurisdictions.

Fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rate may result in volatility in our operating results.

We are subject to income taxes in many U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. In addition, our products are subject to import
and excise duties and/or sales, consumption or value-added taxes (“VAT”) in many jurisdictions. We record tax expense
based on our estimates of future payments, which include reserves for estimates of probable settlements of foreign and
domestic tax audits. At any one time, many tax years are subject to audit by various taxing jurisdictions. The results of
these audits and negotiations with taxing authorities may affect the ultimate settlement of these issues. As a result, we
expect that throughout the year there could be ongoing variability in our quarterly tax rates as taxable events occur and
exposures are evaluated. In addition, our effective tax rate in any given financial reporting period may be materially
impacted by changes in the mix and level of earnings or losses by taxing jurisdictions or by changes to existing
accounting rules or regulations. Fluctuations in duties could also have a material impact on our financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows. In some international markets, we are required to hold and submit VAT to the
appropriate local tax authorities. Failure to correctly calculate or submit the appropriate amounts could subject us to
substantial fines and penalties that could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or
cash flows. In addition, tax law may be enacted in the future, domestically or abroad, that impacts our current or
future tax structure and effective tax rate.

Extreme weather conditions and the seasonal nature of our business may cause net sales to fluctuate and negatively
impact our results of operations.

Historically, our operations have been seasonal, with a significant amount of net sales and operating income occurring
in the fourth fiscal quarter. Severe weather conditions and changes in weather patterns can influence customer trends,
consumer traffic and shopping habits. Unseasonably warm temperatures in the winter or cool temperatures in the
summer may diminish demand for our seasonal merchandise. In addition, severe weather can also decrease customer
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traffic in our stores and reduce sales and profitability. As a result of this seasonality, net sales and net income during
any fiscal quarter cannot be used as an accurate indicator of our annual results. Any factors negatively affecting us
during the third and fourth fiscal quarters of any year, including inclement weather, could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations for the entire year.
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The impact of war or acts of terrorism could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial
condition.

The continued threat of terrorism and the associated heightened security measures and military actions in response to
acts of terrorism have disrupted commerce. Further acts of terrorism or future conflicts may disrupt commerce and
undermine consumer confidence and consumer spending by causing domestic and/or tourist traffic in malls and the
Company's flagship and other stores to decline, which could negatively impact our sales revenue. Furthermore, an act
of terrorism or war, or the threat thereof, or any other unforeseen interruption of commerce, could negatively impact
our business by interfering with our ability to obtain merchandise from foreign manufacturers. Our inability to obtain
merchandise from our foreign manufacturers or substitute other manufacturers, at similar costs and in a timely
manner, could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

Changes in the regulatory or compliance landscape could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We are subject to numerous laws and regulations, including customs, truth-in-advertising, securities laws, consumer
protection, general privacy, health information privacy, identity theft, online privacy, employee health and safety,
international minimum wage laws, unsolicited commercial communication and zoning and occupancy laws and
ordinances that regulate retailers generally and/or govern the importation, intellectual property, promotion and sale of
merchandise and the operation of retail stores, direct-to-consumer operations and distribution centers. Laws and
regulations at the state, federal and international levels frequently change, and the ultimate cost of compliance cannot
be precisely estimated. If these laws and regulations were to change, or were violated by our management, associates,
suppliers, vendors or other parties with whom we do business, the costs of certain merchandise could increase, or we
could experience delays in shipments of our merchandise, be subject to fines or penalties, temporary or permanent
store closures, increased regulatory scrutiny or suffer reputational harm, which could reduce demand for our
merchandise and adversely affect our business and results of operations. Any changes in regulations, the imposition of
additional regulations, or the enactment of any new or more stringent legislation including the areas referenced above,
could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our Asset-Based Revolving Credit Agreement and our Term Loan Agreement include restrictive covenants that limit
our flexibility in operating our business.

Our Asset-Based Revolving Credit Agreement expires on August 7, 2019 and our Term Loan Agreement has a
maturity date of August 7, 2021. Both our Asset-Based Revolving Credit Agreement and our Term Loan Agreement
contain restrictive covenants that, subject to specified exemptions, restrict our ability to incur indebtedness, grant
liens, make certain investments, pay dividends or distributions on our capital stock and engage in mergers. The
inability to obtain credit on commercially reasonable terms in the future when these facilities expire could adversely
impact our liquidity and results of operations. In addition, market conditions could potentially impact the size and
terms of a replacement facility or facilities.

Compliance with changing regulations and standards for accounting, corporate governance and public disclosure
could adversely affect our business, results of operations and reported financial results.

Changing regulatory requirements for corporate governance and public disclosure, including SEC regulations and the
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s accounting standards requirements are creating additional complexities for
public companies. For example, the Dodd-Frank Act contains provisions governing “conflict minerals,” certain minerals
originating from the Democratic Republic of Congo and adjoining countries. As a result, the SEC adopted annual
disclosure and reporting requirements for those companies who use conflict minerals mined in the named countries.
There are costs associated with complying with the disclosure requirements, including diligence to determine the
sources of minerals used in our products and possible changes to sources of our inputs.
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Stockholder activism, the current political environment, financial reform legislation and the current high level of
government intervention and regulatory reform may lead to substantial new regulations and disclosure obligations. In
addition, the expected future requirement to transition to, or converge with, international financial reporting standards
may create uncertainty and additional complexities. These changing regulatory requirements may lead to additional
compliance costs, as well as the diversion of our management’s time and attention from strategic business activities
and could have a significant effect on our reported results for the affected periods.

ITEM 1B.UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

None.
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ITEM 2.PROPERTIES.

The Company’s headquarters and support functions occupy 501 acres, consisting of the home office, distribution and
shipping facilities centralized on a campus-like setting in New Albany, Ohio and an additional small storage facility
located in the Columbus, Ohio area, all of which are owned by the Company. Additionally, the Company leases small
facilities to house its design and sourcing support centers in Hong Kong, New York City, New York and Los Angeles,
California, as well as offices in the United Kingdom, Japan, Switzerland, Italy, Hong Kong and China.

All of the retail stores operated by the Company, as of March 26, 2015, are located in leased facilities, primarily in
shopping centers. The leases expire at various dates, between 2015 and 2031.

The Company’s home office, distribution and shipping facilities, design support centers and stores are currently
suitable and adequate.

As of March 26, 2015, the Company’s 965 stores were located as follows:
U.S. & U.S. Territories:
Alabama 4 Kentucky 7 North Dakota 1
Alaska 1 Louisiana 6 Ohio 25
Arizona 16 Maine 3 Oklahoma 4
Arkansas 6 Maryland 17 Oregon 8
California 113 Massachusetts 31 Pennsylvania 38
Colorado 7 Michigan 22 Rhode Island 2
Connecticut 16 Minnesota 9 South Carolina 10
Delaware 5 Mississippi 2 Tennessee 15
District Of Columbia 1 Missouri 8 Texas 73
Florida 70 Montana 1 Utah 6
Georgia 20 Nebraska 2 Vermont 2
Hawaii 4 Nevada 11 Virginia 21
Idaho 2 New Hampshire 9 Washington 18
Illinois 32 New Jersey 39 West Virginia 4
Indiana 13 New Mexico 3 Wisconsin 9
Iowa 5 New York 45 Puerto Rico 1
Kansas 5 North Carolina 22
International Stores:
Australia 2 Germany 27 Poland 1
Austria 6 Hong Kong 3 Republic of Korea 4
Belgium 3 Ireland 2 Singapore 1
Canada 18 Italy 13 Spain 12
China 11 Japan 7 Sweden 3
Denmark 1 Kuwait 1 United Kingdom 34

France 15 Netherlands 4 United Arab
Emirates 3
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ITEM 3.LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

The Company is a defendant in lawsuits and other adversary proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business.
Legal costs incurred in connection with the resolution of claims and lawsuits are generally expensed as incurred, and
the Company establishes reserves for the outcome of litigation where it deems appropriate to do so under applicable
accounting rules. The Company’s assessment of the current exposure could change in the event of the discovery of
additional facts with respect to legal matters pending against the Company or determinations by judges, juries,
administrative agencies or other finders of fact that are not in accordance with the Company’s evaluation of claims.
Actual liabilities may exceed the amounts reserved, and there can be no assurance that final resolution of these matters
will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. The
Company has established accruals for certain matters where losses are deemed probable and reasonably estimable.
There are other claims and legal proceedings pending against the Company for which accruals have not been
established.

ITEM 4.MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

A&F’s Class A Common Stock (the “Common Stock”) is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
“ANF.” The table below sets forth the high and low sales prices of A&F’s Common Stock on the New York Stock
Exchange for Fiscal 2014 and Fiscal 2013:

Sales Price
High Low

Fiscal 2014
4th Quarter $35.14 $25.52
3rd Quarter $44.32 $31.47
2nd Quarter $42.89 $34.54
1st Quarter $40.99 $32.02
Fiscal 2013
4th Quarter $38.31 $31.72
3rd Quarter $51.66 $33.19
2nd Quarter $54.41 $43.46
1st Quarter $52.07 $45.17

Dividends are declared at the discretion of A&F's Board of Directors. A quarterly dividend, of $0.20 per share, was
declared in each of February, May, August and November in Fiscal 2014 and Fiscal 2013. Dividends were paid in
each of March, June, September and December in Fiscal 2014. A&F's Board of Directors reviews the dividend on a
quarterly basis and establishes the dividend rate based on A&F's financial condition, results of operations, capital
requirements, current and projected cash flows, business prospects and other factors which the directors deem
relevant.

As of March 26, 2015, there were approximately 3,500 stockholders of record. However, when including investors
holding shares in broker accounts under street name, active associates of the Company who participate in A&F’s stock
purchase plan, and associates of the Company who own shares through A&F-sponsored retirement plans, A&F
estimates that there are approximately 40,300 stockholders.

19

Edgar Filing: ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO /DE/ - Form 10-K

34



Table of Contents

The following table provides information regarding the purchase of shares of the Common Stock of A&F made by or
on behalf of A&F or any “affiliated purchaser” as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, during each fiscal month of the quarterly period ended January 31, 2015:

Period (Fiscal Month)
Total Number
of Shares
Purchased(1)

Average
Price  Paid
per Share

Total Number of
Shares 
Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced
Plans or
Programs(2)

Maximum Number of
Shares that May Yet
be Purchased under
the Plans or
Programs(3)

November 2, 2014 through November 29,
2014 2,444 $29.51 — 8,964,176

November 30, 2014 through January 3,
2015 454 $30.03 — 8,964,176

January 4, 2015 through January 31, 2015 1,790 $27.36 — 8,964,176
Total 4,688 $28.74 — 8,964,176

(1)
All of the 4,688 shares of A&F’s Common Stock purchased during the thirteen-week period ended January 31,
2015 represented shares which were withheld for tax payments due upon the vesting of employee restricted stock
units and restricted share awards which vested.

(2)
No shares were repurchased during the thirteen-week period ended January 31, 2015 pursuant to A&F’s publicly
announced stock repurchase authorization. On August 14, 2012, A&F's Board of Directors authorized the
repurchase of 10.0 million shares of A&F's Common Stock, which was announced on August 15, 2012.

(3)
The number shown represents, as of the end of each period, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that
may yet be purchased under A&F’s publicly announced stock repurchase authorization described in footnote 2
above. The shares may be purchased, from time-to-time, depending on market conditions.

During Fiscal 2014, A&F repurchased approximately 7.3 million shares of A&F’s Common Stock in the open market
with a cost of approximately $285.0 million. During Fiscal 2013, A&F repurchased approximately 2.4 million shares
of A&F’s Common Stock in the open market with a cost of approximately $115.8 million. Repurchases made during
Fiscal 2014 and Fiscal 2013 were pursuant to authorizations of A&F’s Board of Directors.
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The following graph shows the changes, over the five-year period ended January 31, 2015 (the last day of A&F’s
Fiscal 2014) in the value of $100 invested in (i) shares of A&F’s Common Stock; (ii) the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock
Index (the “S&P 500 Index”); (iii) the Standard & Poor's Midcap 400 Stock Index (the "S&P Midcap 400 Index"); and
(iv) the Standard & Poor’s Apparel Retail Composite Index (the “S&P Apparel Retail Index”), including reinvestment of
dividends. The plotted points represent the closing price on the last trading day of the fiscal year indicated.

PERFORMANCE GRAPH(1)

COMPARISON OF FIVE-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Abercrombie & Fitch Co., the S&P 500 Index, the S&P Midcap 400 Index and the S&P Apparel Retail Index
*$100 invested on 1/30/10 in stock or 1/31/10 in index, including reinvestment of dividends. Indexes calculated on a
month-end basis.
Copyright© 2015 S&P, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All rights reserved.

In Fiscal 2013, A&F was removed as a component of the S&P 500 Index and became a component of the S&P
Midcap 400 Index.

(1) This graph shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC or subject to SEC Regulation
14A or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), except
to the extent that A&F specifically requests that the graph be treated as soliciting material or specifically incorporates
it by reference into a filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act.
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ITEM 6.SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The following financial information is derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements. The information
presented below should be read in conjunction with "MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION" in Item 7 and the Company's Consolidated Financial
Statements and notes thereto included in Item 8. We have also included certain non-financial information to enhance
the understanding of our business.

(Thousands, except per share and per square foot amounts, ratios and store and associate data)
Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012(1) Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010

Statement of Operations Data
Net Sales $3,744,030 $4,116,897 $4,510,805 $4,158,058 $3,468,777
Gross Profit $2,313,570 $2,575,435 $2,816,709 $2,550,224 $2,217,429
Operating Income $113,519 $80,823 $374,233 $221,384 $237,180
Net Income $51,821 $54,628 $237,011 $143,934 $155,709
Net Income per Basic Share $0.72 $0.71 $2.89 $1.66 $1.77
Net Income per Diluted Share $0.71 $0.69 $2.85 $1.61 $1.73
Basic Weighted-Average Shares
Outstanding 71,785 77,157 81,940 86,848 88,061

Diluted Weighted-Average Shares
Outstanding 72,937 78,666 83,175 89,537 89,851

Cash Dividends Declared Per Share$0.80 $0.80 $0.70 $0.70 $0.70
Balance Sheet Data
Working Capital(2) $679,016 $752,344 $617,023 $858,248 $927,024
Current Ratio(3) 2.40 2.32 1.89 2.23 2.68
Total Assets $2,505,167 $2,850,997 $2,987,401 $3,117,032 $2,994,022
Borrowings, Net $293,412 135,000 $— $— $43,805
Leasehold Financing Obligations $50,521 $60,726 $63,942 $57,851 $24,761
Total Stockholders’ Equity $1,389,701 $1,729,493 $1,818,268 $1,931,335 $1,943,391
Return on Average Stockholders’
Equity(4) 3  % 3  % 13  % 7 % 8 %

Other Financial and Operating Data
Net Cash Provided by Operating
Activities $312,480 $175,493 $684,171 $365,219 $391,789

Net Cash Used for Investing
Activities $(175,074 ) $(173,861 ) $(247,238 ) $(340,689 ) $(92,976 )

Net Cash Used for Financing
Activities $(181,453 ) $(40,831 ) $(380,071 ) $(265,329 ) $(145,333 )

Capital Expenditures $174,624 $163,924 $339,862 $318,598 $160,935
Free Cash Flow(5) $137,856 $11,569 $344,309 $46,621 $230,854
Comparable Sales(6) (8 )% (11 )% (1 )% 5 % 7 %
Net Store Sales Per Average Gross
Square Foot $381 $417 $485 $463 $390

Total Number of Stores Open 969 1,006 1,041 1,045 1,069
Total Store Square Footage at End
of Period 7,517 7,736 7,958 7,778 7,756

(1) Fiscal 2012 was a fifty-three week year.
(2) Working Capital is computed by subtracting current liabilities from current assets.
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(3) Current Ratio is computed by dividing current assets by current liabilities.

(4) Return on Average Stockholders’ Equity is computed by dividing net income by the average stockholders’ equity
balance.

(5)

Free Cash Flow is computed by subtracting Capital Expenditures from the GAAP financial measure of Net Cash
Provided by Operating Activities, both of which are disclosed above in the table immediately preceding the
measure of Free Cash Flow. The Company believes that the non-GAAP measure of Free Cash Flow is useful to
investors to understand available cash flows generated from operations less cash flows used for capital
expenditures. The closest GAAP financial measure is Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities. The non-GAAP
financial measure of Free Cash Flow should not be used in isolation or as an alternative to Net Cash Provided by
Operating Activities or an indicator of the ongoing performance of the Company. It is also not intended to
supersede or replace the Company's GAAP financial measure.

(6)

Comparable store sales is defined as year-over-year sales for a store that has been open as the same
brand at least one year and its square footage has not been expanded or reduced by more than 20%
within the past year and prior year's net sales are converted at the current year's exchange rate to remove
the impact of currency fluctuation. Direct-to-Consumer comparable sales is defined as year-over-year
sales with prior year's net sales converted at the current year's exchange rate to remove the impact of
currency fluctuation. Beginning with Fiscal 2012, comparable sales include comparable
direct-to-consumer sales. Figures for years prior to Fiscal 2012 have not been restated and only include
comparable store sales.
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ITEM 7.MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OFOPERATIONS.

OVERVIEW

The Company is a specialty retailer that operates stores in North America, Europe, Asia, Australia and the Middle
East and direct-to-consumer operations in North America, Europe and Asia that service its brands throughout the
world. The Company sells casual sportswear apparel, including knit tops and woven shirts, graphic t-shirts, fleece,
jeans and woven pants, shorts, sweaters, and outerwear; personal care products; and accessories for men, women and
kids under the Abercrombie & Fitch, abercrombie kids and Hollister brands. The Company also sells bras, underwear,
personal care products, sleepwear and at-home products for girls through Hollister under the Gilly Hicks brand.

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to January 31, typically resulting in a fifty-two week year, but
occasionally giving rise to an additional week, resulting in a fifty-three week year as was the case for Fiscal 2012. A
store is included in comparable sales when it has been open as the same brand at least one year and its square footage
has not been expanded or reduced by more than 20% within the past year. Additionally, beginning with Fiscal 2012,
comparable direct-to-consumer sales were included in comparable sales. Direct-to-Consumer comparable sales is
computed using net sales in current and prior years converted at the current year's exchange rate to remove the impact
of currency fluctuation.

For purposes of this “ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS,” the fifty-two week period ended January 31, 2015 is compared to the fifty-two
week period ended February 1, 2014 and the fifty-two week period ended February 1, 2014 is compared to the
fifty-three week period ended February 2, 2013.

On December 8, 2014, Michael S. Jeffries retired from his position as Chief Executive Officer and resigned as a
Director of the Company, effective immediately. The Company's Board of Directors did not appoint an Interim Chief
Executive Officer, but appointed Arthur C. Martinez, the Non-Executive Chairman of the Board, to serve as Executive
Chairman of the Board and appointed Jonathan E. Ramsden, the Company's Chief Operating Officer, to serve as
Interim Principal Executive Officer. The Company's Board of Directors also formed an Office of the Chairman, whose
members are Arthur C. Martinez, Jonathan E. Ramsden, Christos E. Angelides, Brand President of Abercrombie &
Fitch and abercrombie kids, and Fran Horowitz, Brand President of Hollister, until a new Chief Executive Officer is
appointed.

Mr. Jeffries' employment with the Company terminated on December 31, 2014. In connection with his retirement, Mr.
Jeffries entered into a Retirement Agreement with the Company, providing him compensation as if his employment
had been terminated without cause pursuant to his Employment Agreement dated December 9, 2013. As a result and
in addition to any benefits Mr. Jeffries is entitled to upon retirement, as set forth in the Company's most recent
definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A, filed with the SEC on May 13, 2014, Mr. Jeffries will also receive
payments of approximately $5.5 million in cash and benefits continuation, and the Company incurred a pre-tax charge
of approximately $4.7 million in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2014.

The Company had net sales of $3.744 billion for Fiscal 2014, a decrease of 9% from net sales of $4.117 billion for
Fiscal 2013. For Fiscal 2014, U.S. Stores net sales decreased 13% to $1.879 billion, International Stores net sales
decreased 12% to $1.033 billion and Direct-to-Consumer net sales, including shipping and handling revenue,
increased 7% to $832.5 million.

Operating income was $113.5 million for Fiscal 2014, compared to operating income of $80.8 million for Fiscal 2013.
For Fiscal 2014, operating income for U.S. Stores increased 34% to $261.4 million, International Stores decreased
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18% to $204.3 million and Direct-to-Consumer decreased 9% to $269.6 million. Operating loss not attributable to a
segment decreased 6% to $621.8 million.

Net income was $51.8 million and net income per diluted share was $0.71 in Fiscal 2014 compared to net income of
$54.6 million and net income per diluted share of $0.69 in Fiscal 2013.

Excluding certain charges detailed in the GAAP to non-GAAP financial measures reconciliation below, the Company
reported adjusted non-GAAP operating income of $191.7 million, net income of $112.3 million and net income per
diluted shares of $1.54 for Fiscal 2014, compared to adjusted non-GAAP operating income of $222.9 million, net
income of $150.6 million and net income per diluted share of $1.91 for Fiscal 2013.

The Company believes that the non-GAAP financial measures discussed above are useful to investors as they provide
the ability to measure the Company's operating performance and compare it against that of prior periods without
reference to the impact of charges related to asset impairment, store closures, restructuring of the Gilly Hicks brand,
CEO transition costs, the Company's

23

Edgar Filing: ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO /DE/ - Form 10-K

40



Table of Contents

profit improvement initiative, and corporate governance matters. These non-GAAP financial measures should not be
used as alternatives to operating income, net income or net income per diluted share and are also not intended to be
indicators of the ongoing operating performance of the Company or to supersede or replace the Company's GAAP
financial measures.

The table below reconciles the GAAP financial measures to the non-GAAP financial measures for the fiscal years
ended January 31, 2015, February 1, 2014 and February 2, 2013.

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

Operating
Income

Net
Income

Net
Income
per
Diluted
Share(2)

Operating
Income

Net
Income

Net
Income
per
Diluted
Share(2)

Operating
Income

Net
Income

Net
Income
per
Diluted
Share(2)

GAAP $113,519 $51,821 $0.71 $80,823 $54,628 $0.69 $374,233 $237,011 $2.85
Excluded
Charges (1) 78,174 60,488 0.83 142,054 95,991 1.22 7,407 4,592 0.06

Non-GAAP$191,693 $112,309 $1.54 $222,877 $150,619 $1.91 $381,640 $241,603 $2.90

(1)

Excluded charges for Fiscal 2014 included $45.0 million in pre-tax charges related to asset impairment, $12.7
million in pre-tax charges related to certain corporate governance matters and CEO transition costs, $8.4 million in
pre-tax charges related to the restructuring of the Gilly Hicks brand, $6.5 million in pre-tax charges related to the
Company's profit improvement initiative and $5.6 million in pre-tax charges related to lease terminations and store
closures. Excluded charges for Fiscal 2013 included $81.5 million in pre-tax charges related to the restructuring of
the Gilly Hicks brand, $46.7 million in pre-tax charges related to asset impairment and $13.8 million in pre-tax
charges related to the Company's profit improvement initiative. Excluded charges for Fiscal 2012 include $7.4
million in pre-tax charges related to asset impairments.

(2) Adjusted non-GAAP net income per diluted share is based on diluted weighted-average shares outstanding of 72.9
million, 78.7 million and 83.2 million  for Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively.

As of January 31, 2015, the Company had $520.7 million in cash and equivalents, and $299.3 million in gross
borrowings outstanding under its term loan facility. Net cash provided by operating activities, the Company's primary
source of liquidity, was $312.5 million for Fiscal 2014. The Company used cash of $174.6 million for capital
expenditures, $285.0 million to repurchase approximately 7.3 million shares of A&F's Common Stock and $57.4
million to pay dividends during Fiscal 2014. In addition, the Company had net proceeds from borrowings of $161.3
million during Fiscal 2014.

The following data represents the amounts shown in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive (Loss) Income for the last three fiscal years, expressed as a percentage of net sales:

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012
NET SALES 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of Goods Sold 38.2% 37.4% 37.6%
GROSS PROFIT 61.8% 62.6% 62.4%
Stores and Distribution Expense 45.5% 46.3% 43.9%
Marketing, General and Administrative Expense 12.3% 11.7% 10.5%
Restructuring Charges 0.2% 2.0% —%
Asset Impairment 1.2% 1.1% 0.2%
Other Operating Income, Net (0.4)% (0.6)% (0.4)%
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OPERATING INCOME 3.0% 2.0% 8.3%
Interest Expense, Net 0.4% 0.2% 0.2%
INCOME BEFORE TAXES 2.6% 1.8% 8.1%
Tax Expense 1.3% 0.5% 2.9%
NET INCOME 1.4% 1.3% 5.3%
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following summarized financial and statistical data compare Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012:
Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

Net sales by segment (millions) $3,744.0 $4,116.9 $4,510.8
U.S. Stores $1,878.5 $2,161.2 $2,615.1
International Stores $1,032.9 $1,178.8 $1,195.0
Direct-to-Consumer $832.5 $776.9 $700.7
Net sales as a % of total sales
U.S. Stores 50  % 52  % 58  %
International Stores 28  % 29  % 26  %
Direct-to-Consumer 22  % 19  % 16  %
Net sales by brand (millions)* $3,744.0 $4,116.9 $4,510.8
Abercrombie & Fitch $1,449.9 $1,547.2 $1,704.2
abercrombie $321.4 $346.7 $382.5
Hollister $1,947.9 $2,127.8 $2,314.5
Gilly Hicks** $24.9 $95.1 $109.6
Increase (decrease) in comparable sales*** (8 )% (11 )% (1 )%
Abercrombie & Fitch (4 )% (10 )% (3 )%
abercrombie (7 )% (5 )% 0  %
Hollister (10 )% (14 )% (1 )%
Increase (decrease) in comparable sales by geography***
U.S. (6 )% (11 )% 1  %
International (12 )% (11 )% (8 )%
Increase (decrease) in comparable sales by channel***
Total Stores (12 )% (16 )% (5 )%
U.S. Stores (9 )% (15 )% (1 )%
International Stores (18 )% (19 )% (19 )%
Direct-to-Consumer 8  % 13  % 24  %

*Totals may not foot due to rounding.
**Net sales reflects the activity of stores open during the period and direct-to-consumer sales.

***

Comparable store sales is defined as year-over-year sales for a store that has been open as the same brand at least
one year and its square footage has not been expanded or reduced by more than 20% within the past year and prior
year's net sales are converted at the current year's exchange rate to remove the impact of currency fluctuation.
Direct-to-Consumer comparable sales is defined as year-over-year sales with prior year's net sales converted at the
current year's exchange rate to remove the impact of currency fluctuation. Comparable sales include comparable
direct-to-consumer sales. Fiscal 2012 included a fifty-third week and, therefore, Fiscal 2013 comparable sales are
compared to the fifty-two week period ended February 2, 2013.
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CURRENT TRENDS AND OUTLOOK

2014 was a year of significant transition for Abercrombie & Fitch. Our Board of Directors was reconstituted, with
new members bringing significant retail and other relevant experience. We undertook a significant change to a
brand-driven organization, and recruited two brand presidents with significant retail experience to lead that
transformation. Our now former CEO, Michael Jeffries, departed at the end of the year and we are moving forward
with a selection process for a new CEO.

As we move into 2015, we continue to evolve our business and respond to major changes and challenges in the
macroeconomic and consumer environment. While our efforts may take some time to show meaningful results, we are
confident that we are taking the right steps to enable our brands to deliver their full potential.

Our strategic priorities for Fiscal 2015 include:

•Improving comparable store sales trends
•Continuing to invest in DTC and omnichannel capabilities
•Ongoing process improvement and cost management
•Pursuing additional opportunities to expand our brand reach, and
•Ensuring we are properly organized for the next phase of growth and increase accountability to the bottom line

We believe that the aggregate effect of these changes will enable us to improve our performance as we go forward.

In what remains a very difficult consumer and competitive environment we expect the first half of Fiscal 2015 to be
challenging. Foreign-currency exchange rates are expected to be a significant headwind to our results for Fiscal 2015.
We expect a negative impact from reduced sales of heavy logo merchandise to modestly abate in the first half of the
year, and then neutralize in the second half of the year. We expect gross margin rate to be flat to slightly up.

With regard to operating expense, we expect the benefit from foreign exchange rates and expected savings from our
profit improvement initiative to be offset by the restoration of normal incentive compensation accruals and increased
investment in DTC and omnichannel. Excluded from our operating expense outlook are potential impairment and
store closing charges and other potential business transformation and restructuring charges.

In addition, we are projecting a full year weighted average share count of approximately 70 million shares, excluding
the effect of potential share buybacks.

We plan to open 15 full-price stores in Fiscal 2015 in the key growth markets of China, Japan and the Middle East,
and four full price stores in North America. We also plan to open 11 new outlet stores in the U.S. In addition, the
Company anticipates closing approximately 60 stores in the U.S. during the fiscal year through natural lease
expirations.

With regard to capital allocation, we are targeting Fiscal 2015 capital expenditures of approximately $150 million,
which are prioritized towards new stores and store updates as well as DTC and IT investments to support our growth
initiatives.
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KEY BUSINESS INDICATORS

The following measurements are among the key business indicators reviewed by various members of management to
gauge the Company’s results:

•
Comparable store sales, defined as year-over-year sales for a store that has been open as the same brand at least one
year and its square footage has not been expanded or reduced by more than 20% within the past year, and with prior
year's net sales converted at the current year's exchange rate to remove the impact of currency fluctuation;

•Comparable direct-to-consumer sales, defined as year-over-year sales with prior year's net sales converted at thecurrent year's exchange rate to remove the impact of currency fluctuation;
•Comparable sales, defined as comparable store sales combined with comparable direct-to-consumer sales;
•U.S. and International store performance;
•Store productivity;
•Gross margin;
•Selling margin, defined as sales price less original cost, by brand and by product category;
•Stores and distribution expense as a percentage of net sales;
•Marketing, general and administrative expense as a percentage of net sales;
•Operating income and operating income as a percentage of net sales;
•Net income;
•Inventory per gross square foot and inventory to sales ratio;
•Cash flow and liquidity determined by the Company’s working capital and free cash flow;

•
Store metrics such as sales per gross square foot, sales per selling square foot, average unit retail, average number of
transactions per store, average units per transaction, average transaction values, and store contribution (defined as
store sales less direct costs of operating the store); and,
•Return on invested capital and return on equity.

While not all of these metrics are disclosed publicly by the Company due to the proprietary nature of the information,
the Company publicly discloses and discusses many of these metrics as part of its “Financial Summary” and in several
sections within this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

FISCAL 2014 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2013 

Net Sales

Net sales for Fiscal 2014 were $3.744 billion, a decrease of 9% from Fiscal 2013 net sales of $4.117 billion. The net
sales decrease was attributable to an 8% decrease in comparable sales, which equated to a 7% decrease in net sales, 37
net store closures and the adverse effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates (based on converting prior
year sales at current year exchange rates) of approximately $19.2 million.

U. S. Stores net sales for Fiscal 2014 were $1.879 billion, a decrease of 13% from Fiscal 2013 U.S. Stores net sales of
$2.161 billion. The decrease in U.S. Stores net sales was primarily due to a 9% decrease in comparable U.S. Stores
sales, which equated into an 8% decrease in U.S. Stores net sales, and a 5% decrease in U.S. Stores sales attributable
to net closure of 44 stores.

International Stores net sales for Fiscal 2014 were $1.033 billion, a decrease of 12% from Fiscal 2013 International
Stores net sales of $1.179 billion. The decrease in International Stores net sales was primarily due to an 18% decrease
in comparable International Stores sales, which equated into an 16% decrease in International Stores net sales, and the
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adverse effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates of approximately $10.0 million, which were partially
offset by a 5% increase in International Stores net sales attributable to net opening of 7 stores.

Direct-to-Consumer net sales for Fiscal 2014, including shipping and handling revenue, were $832.5 million, an
increase of 7% from Fiscal 2013 Direct-to-Consumer net sales of $776.9 million. The increase in Direct-to-Consumer
net sales was primarily due to an 11% increase in comparable international Direct-to-Consumer sales and a 6%
increase in comparable U.S. Direct-to-Consumer sales, which together equated into an 8% increase in
Direct-to-Consumer net sales, partially offset by the adverse effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates of
approximately $9.2 million . The Direct-to-Consumer business, including shipping and handling revenue, accounted
for 22% of total net sales in Fiscal 2014 compared to 19% in Fiscal 2013.
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For Fiscal 2014, comparable sales by brand, including direct-to-consumer sales, decreased 4% for Abercrombie &
Fitch, decreased 7% for abercrombie kids, and decreased 10% for Hollister.

Gross Profit

Gross profit was $2.314 billion for Fiscal 2014 compared to $2.575 billion for Fiscal 2013. The gross profit rate (gross
profit divided by net sales) for Fiscal 2014 was 61.8%, down 80 basis points from the Fiscal 2013 rate of 62.6%.

The decrease in the gross profit rate was primarily driven by increased promotional activity, including shipping
promotions in the direct-to-consumer business, partially offset by lower average unit cost.

Stores and Distribution Expense

Stores and distribution expense was $1.703 billion for Fiscal 2014 compared to $1.908 billion for Fiscal 2013. Stores
and distribution expense included $8.3 million of charges for Fiscal 2014 and $1.1 million of charges for Fiscal 2013
related to lease terminations, store closures and the Company's profit improvement initiative. Excluding these charges,
the stores and distribution expense rate was 45.3% of net sales for Fiscal 2014, down 100 basis points from 46.3% of
net sales for Fiscal 2013.

The decrease in stores and distribution expense as a percent of net sales was driven primarily by savings from the
Company's profit improvement initiative, largely in store payroll and other controllable store expense, partially offset
by the deleveraging effect of negative comparable sales and higher direct-to-consumer expense.

Shipping and handling costs, including costs incurred to store, move and prepare merchandise for shipment and costs
incurred to physically move merchandise to customers, associated with direct-to-consumer operations were $108.1
million for Fiscal 2014  compared to $93.4 million for Fiscal 2013. These amounts are included in Stores and
Distribution Expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income.

Handling costs, including costs incurred to store, move and prepare merchandise for shipment to stores were $52.2
million for Fiscal 2014 compared to $53.9 million for Fiscal 2013. These amounts are included in Stores and
Distribution Expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income.

Marketing, General and Administrative Expense

Marketing, general and administrative expense was $458.8 million for Fiscal 2014 compared to $481.8 million for
Fiscal 2013. Marketing, general and administrative expense included $16.4 million of charges for Fiscal 2014 and
$12.7 million of charges for Fiscal 2013 related to the Company's profit improvement initiative. Excluding these
charges, marketing, general and administrative expense was $442.4 million for Fiscal 2014 compared to $469.1
million for Fiscal 2013, a decrease of $26.7 million.

The decrease in marketing, general and administrative expense was driven primarily by a decrease in compensation
expense, partially offset by an increase in marketing expenses.

Restructuring Charges

Charges associated with the restructuring of the Gilly Hicks brand were $8.4 million for Fiscal 2014, of which $6.0
million related to lease terminations and $2.1 million related to asset impairment. Charges associated with the
restructuring of the Gilly Hicks brand were $81.5 million for Fiscal 2013, of which $42.7 million related to lease
terminations and $37.9 million related to asset impairment.
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Asset Impairment

The Company incurred non-cash asset impairment charges of $45.0 million for Fiscal 2014 related to 51 stores whose
asset carrying values were determined to not be recoverable and exceeded fair value. Store-related asset impairment
charges for Fiscal 2014 primarily related to the Company's Abercrombie & Fitch flagship store locations in Tokyo,
Japan and Seoul, Korea, as well as nine Hollister stores and nine abercrombie kids stores. Additionally, in connection
with the Company's plan to sell the corporate aircraft, the Company incurred charges of approximately $11.3 million
to record the expected loss on the disposal of the asset. For Fiscal 2013, the Company incurred non-cash asset
impairment charges of $46.7 million primarily related to 97 stores whose asset carrying values were determined to not
be recoverable and exceeded fair value.
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Other Operating Income, Net

Other operating income, net was $15.2 million for Fiscal 2014 compared to other operating income, net of $23.1
million for Fiscal 2013. Other operating income, net included income of $10.2 million related to insurance recoveries
and $5.8 million related to gift card breakage, partially offset by losses of $2.0 million related to foreign currency
transactions for Fiscal 2014, compared to income of $9.0 million related to insurance recoveries, income of $8.8
million related to gift card breakage and gains of $2.9 million related to foreign currency transactions for Fiscal 2013.

Operating Income

Operating income was $113.5 million for Fiscal 2014 compared to operating income of $80.8 million for Fiscal 2013.
Adjusted non-GAAP operating income was $191.7 million for Fiscal 2014 compared to adjusted non-GAAP operating
income of $222.9 million for Fiscal 2013, excluding pre-tax charges for Gilly Hicks restructuring, asset impairment,
store closures, lease terminations, CEO transition costs, corporate governance matters, and the profit improvement
initiative for Fiscal 2014 and Fiscal 2013 of $78.2 million and $142.1 million, respectively. The decrease in adjusted
non-GAAP operating income excluding the specified charges was primarily driven by the deleveraging effect of
negative comparable store sales, both U.S. and international, and investment in direct-to-consumer operations partially
offset by expense reductions primarily related to the Company's profit improvement initiative.

U.S. Stores operating income was $261.4 million for Fiscal 2014 compared to $194.6 million for Fiscal 2013. The
increase in U.S. Stores operating income for Fiscal 2014 was primarily due to a year-over-year decrease of $88.8
million in charges related to the restructuring of the Gilly Hicks brand, the Company's profit improvement initiative
and asset impairment, as well as expense reductions related to the Company's profit improvement initiative, partially
offset by a 9% decrease in comparable U.S. Stores sales, which had a deleveraging effect.

International Stores operating income was $204.3 million for Fiscal 2014 compared to $249.3 million for Fiscal 2013.
The decrease in International Stores operating income for Fiscal 2014 was primarily due to an 18% decrease in
comparable International Stores sales, which had a deleveraging effect and incremental charges of $10.3 million for
Fiscal 2014 as compared to Fiscal 2013 related to the restructuring of the Gilly Hicks brand and asset impairment,
partially offset by expense reductions primarily related to the Company's profit improvement initiative and net
opening of 7 stores.

Direct-to-Consumer operating income was $269.6 million for Fiscal 2014 compared to $295.0 million for Fiscal 2013.
The decrease in Direct-to-Consumer operating income was primarily due to increased digital marketing and shipping
expenses, partially offset by a 7% increase in Direct-to-Consumer net sales.

Operating loss not attributable to a segment ("Other") was $621.8 million for Fiscal 2014 compared to $658.0 million
for Fiscal 2013. The decrease in Other operating loss was attributable to expense reductions primarily related to the
Company's profit improvement initiative, which was partially offset by incremental charges of $14.3 million related to
certain corporate governance matters, asset impairment and the Company's profit improvement initiative.

Interest Expense, Net and Tax Expense

Interest expense was $18.3 million, partially offset by interest income of $3.9 million, for Fiscal 2014, compared to
interest expense of $11.1 million, partially offset by interest income of $3.6 million, for Fiscal 2013. The increase in
interest expense was primarily due to a higher principal balance and interest rate on debt outstanding in Fiscal 2014.

The effective tax rate was 47.7% for Fiscal 2014 compared to 25.5% for Fiscal 2013. The increase in effective tax rate
for Fiscal 2014 was primarily driven by an unfavorable change in the mix of earnings on a jurisdictional basis, a $6.1
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million valuation allowance established in Fiscal 2014 for net operating loss carryforwards for which the Company
has determined based on the currently available evidence it is more likely than not that the associated deferred tax
asset will not be realized, as well as a benefit of $6.7 million in Fiscal 2013 resulting from the settlement of certain
state tax audits and other discrete matters.

Excluding the effect of excluded charges, detailed in the GAAP to non-GAAP financial measures reconciliation
provided under "OVERVIEW," the Company's effective tax rate was 36.7% for Fiscal 2014 compared to 30.1% for
Fiscal 2013.
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As of January 31, 2015, there were approximately $15.9 million of net deferred tax assets in Japan. The realization of
the net deferred tax assets is dependent upon the future generation of sufficient taxable profits in Japan. While the
Company believes it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will be realized, it is not certain. Should
circumstances change, the net deferred tax assets may become subject to a valuation allowance in the future.
Additional valuation allowances would results in additional tax expense.

Net Income and Net Income per Diluted Share

Net income was $51.8 million for Fiscal 2014 compared to net income of $54.6 million for Fiscal 2013. The Company
reported net income per diluted share of $0.71  and $0.69 for Fiscal 2014 and Fiscal 2013, respectively. Excluding
certain charges, detailed in the GAAP to non-GAAP financial measures reconciliation provided under "OVERVIEW,"
the Company reported adjusted non-GAAP net income of $112.3 million and $150.6 million and adjusted non-GAAP
net income per diluted share of $1.54 and $1.91 for Fiscal 2014 and Fiscal 2013, respectively.

FISCAL 2013 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2012 

Net Sales

Net sales for Fiscal 2013 were $4.117 billion, a decrease of 9% from Fiscal 2012 net sales of $4.511 billion. The net
sales decrease was attributable to an 11% decrease in comparable sales, which equated to an 11% decrease in net
sales, partially offset by growth from opening new international stores.

U.S. Stores net sales for Fiscal 2013 were $2.161 billion, a decrease of 17% from Fiscal 2012 U.S. Stores net sales of
$2.615 billion. The decrease in U.S. Stores net sales was primarily due to a 15% decrease in comparable U.S. Stores
sales, which equated into a 14% decrease in U.S. Stores net sales, and a 3% decrease in U.S. Stores sales attributable
to net closure of 59 stores.

International Stores net sales for Fiscal 2013 were $1.179 billion, a decrease of 1% from Fiscal 2012 International
Stores net sales of $1.195 billion. The decrease in International Stores net sales was primarily due to a 19% decrease
in comparable International Stores sales, which equated into an 18% decrease in International Stores net sales, which
was largely offset by a 17% increase in International Stores net sales attributable to net opening of 24 stores.

Direct-to-Consumer net sales for Fiscal 2013, including shipping and handling revenue, were $776.9 million, an
increase of 11% from Fiscal 2012 Direct-to-Consumer net sales of $700.7 million. The increase in
Direct-to-Consumer net sales was primarily due to a 25% increase in comparable international Direct-to-Consumer
net sales and a 7% increase in comparable U.S. Direct-to-Consumer sales, which together equated into a 13% increase
in Direct-to-Consumer sales. The Direct-to-Consumer business, including shipping and handling revenue, accounted
for 19% of total net sales in Fiscal 2013 compared to 16% in Fiscal 2012.

The impact of changes in foreign currency (based on converting prior year sales at current year exchange rates)
benefited sales by approximately $13.4 million in Fiscal 2013, which primarily related to the International Stores
segment.

The Fiscal 2012 retail year included a fifty-third week and, therefore, Fiscal 2013 comparable sales are compared to
the fifty-two week period ended February 2, 2013. The net sales for the fifty-two week period ended February 2, 2013
were approximately $63 million less than the net sales for the reported fifty-three week period ended February 2,
2013.
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For Fiscal 2013, comparable sales by brand, including direct-to-consumer sales, decreased 10% for Abercrombie &
Fitch, decreased 5% for abercrombie kids, and decreased 14% for Hollister.

Gross Profit

Gross profit was $2.575 billion for Fiscal 2013 compared to gross profit of $2.817 billion for Fiscal 2012. The gross
profit rate (gross profit divided by net sales) for Fiscal 2013 was 62.6%, up 20 basis points from the Fiscal 2012 rate
of 62.4%.

Stores and Distribution Expense

Stores and distribution expense was $1.908 billion for Fiscal 2013 compared to $1.981 billion for Fiscal 2012. The
stores and distribution expense rate (stores and distribution expense divided by net sales) for Fiscal 2013 was 46.3%
compared to 43.9% for Fiscal 2012. Stores and distribution expense for the full year included $1.1 million of charges
related to the profit improvement initiative. Savings in store payroll, store management and support and other stores
and distribution expenses, including savings
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from the profit improvement initiative, were more than offset by the deleveraging effect of negative comparable sales
and higher direct-to-consumer expense.

Shipping and handling costs, including costs incurred to store, move and prepare merchandise for shipment and costs
incurred to physically move the merchandise to the customer, associated with direct-to-consumer operations were
$93.4 million and $78.6 million for Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively. The increase in shipping and handling
costs in Fiscal 2013 was primarily driven by increased sales volume and a higher international mix component. These
amounts are recorded in Stores and Distribution Expense in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive (Loss) Income.

Handling costs, including costs incurred to store, move and prepare merchandise for shipment to stores were $53.9
million and $59.4 million for Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively. These amounts are recorded in Stores and
Distribution Expense in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income.

Marketing, General and Administrative Expense

Marketing, general and administrative expense was $481.8 million for Fiscal 2013 compared to $473.9 million for
Fiscal 2012. Marketing, general and administrative expense for Fiscal 2013 included $12.7 million in charges related
to the profit improvement initiative. Excluding these charges, marketing, general and administrative expense was
$469.1 million for Fiscal 2013.

Restructuring Charges

On November 1, 2013, A&F’s Board of Directors approved the closure of the Company’s 24 stand-alone Gilly Hicks
branded stores. In connection with the strategic review, the Company decided to focus the future development of the
Gilly Hicks brand through Hollister stores and direct-to-consumer channels. Restructuring charges associated with the
store closures for the full year were $81.5 million, of which $42.7 million related to lease terminations and store
closure costs and $37.9 million for asset impairments.

Asset Impairment

The Company recorded asset impairment charges of $46.7 million for Fiscal 2013 primarily related to 97 stores, and
$7.4 million for Fiscal 2012 primarily related to 17 stores.

Other Operating Expense (Income), Net

Other operating income, net was $23.1 million for Fiscal 2013 compared to other operating expense, net of $19.3
million for Fiscal 2012. Other operating income, net included income of $9.0 million and $4.8 million related to
insurance recoveries for Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively.

Operating Income

Operating income was $80.8 million for Fiscal 2013 compared to operating income of $374.2 million for Fiscal 2012.
Adjusted non-GAAP operating income was $222.9 million for Fiscal 2013 was compared to adjusted non-GAAP
operating income of $381.6 million for Fiscal 2012, excluding pre-tax charges for Gilly Hicks restructuring, asset
impairment and the profit improvement initiative for Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012 of $142.1 million and $7.4 million,
respectively. The decrease in adjusted non-GAAP operating income excluding charges was primarily driven by the
deleveraging effect of negative comparable store sales, both U.S. and international, partially offset by new
international stores, direct-to-consumer operations and expense reductions primarily related to the Company's profit
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improvement initiative.

U.S. Stores operating income was $194.6 million for Fiscal 2013 compared to $432.0 million for Fiscal 2012. The
decrease in U.S. Stores operating income was primarily due to a 15% decrease in comparable U.S. Stores sales, which
had a deleveraging effect, and incremental charges of $87.5 million for Fiscal 2013 as compared to Fiscal 2012 related
to the restructuring of the Gilly Hicks brand, store-related asset impairment and the Company's profit improvement
initiative, partially offset by expense reductions primarily related to the Company's profit improvement initiative.

International Stores operating income was $249.3 million for Fiscal 2013 compared to $350.9 million for Fiscal 2012.
The decrease in International Stores operating income was primarily due to a 19% decrease in comparable
International Stores sales, which had a deleveraging effect, increased promotional activity and charges of $33.3
million related to the restructuring of the Gilly Hicks brand and store-related asset impairment, partially offset by
expense reductions primarily related to the Company's profit improvement initiative and net opening of 24 stores.
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Direct-to-Consumer operating income was $295.0 million  for Fiscal 2013 compared to $269.5 million for Fiscal
2012. The increase in Direct-to-Consumer operating income was primarily due to an 11% increase in
Direct-to-Consumer net sales, partially offset by increased digital marketing and other direct costs.

Operating loss not attributable to a segment ("Other") was $658.0 million for Fiscal 2013 compared to $678.2 million
for Fiscal 2012. The decrease in Other operating loss was primarily attributable to expense reductions primarily
related to the Company's profit improvement initiative, which was partially offset by charges of $13.8 million related
to the Company's profit improvement initiative and the restructuring of the Gilly Hicks brand.

Interest Expense (Income), Net and Tax Expense

Interest expense was $11.1 million, offset by interest income of $3.6 million, for Fiscal 2013, compared to interest
expense of $10.5 million, partially offset by interest income of $3.2 million, for Fiscal 2012.

The effective tax rate was 25.5% for Fiscal 2013. Excluding the effect of charges related to restructuring plans for
Gilly Hicks, other store-related asset impairment charges, and charges related to the Company’s profit improvement
initiative, the effective tax rate was 30.1% compared to 35.4% for Fiscal 2012. The Fiscal 2013 effective tax rate
included a benefit of $6.7 million primarily resulting from the settlement of certain state tax audits and other discrete
tax matters.

As of February 1, 2014, there were approximately $15.8 million of net deferred tax assets in Japan. The realization of
the net deferred tax assets will depend upon the future generation of sufficient taxable profits in Japan. While the
Company believes it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will be realized, it is not certain. Should
circumstances change, the net deferred tax assets not currently subject to a valuation allowance may become subject to
one in the future. Additional valuation allowances would result in additional tax expense.

Net Income and Net Income per Diluted Share

Net income was $54.6 million for Fiscal 2013 compared to net income of $237.0 million for Fiscal 2012. Net income
included charges of approximately $96.0 million and $4.6 million in Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively. Net
income per diluted share was $0.69 for Fiscal 2013 compared to net income per diluted share of $2.85 for Fiscal 2012.
Net income per diluted share included charges of approximately $1.22 per diluted share and $0.06 per diluted share in
Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively. Refer to the GAAP reconciliation table provided under "OVERVIEW" for a
reconciliation of net income per diluted share on a GAAP basis to net income per diluted share on a non-GAAP basis,
excluding charges for the Gilly Hicks restructuring, asset impairment and charges related to the profit improvement
initiative.

FINANCIAL CONDITION

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Historical Sources and Uses of Cash

Seasonality of Cash Flows

The Company’s business has two principal selling seasons: the Spring season which includes the first and second fiscal
quarters (“Spring”) and the Fall season which includes the third and fourth fiscal quarters ("Fall"). As is typical in the
apparel industry, the Company experiences its greatest sales activity during the Fall season due to Back-to-School and
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Holiday sales periods, particularly in the U.S. The Company relies on excess operating cash flows, which are largely
generated in the Fall season, to fund operating expenses throughout the year and to reinvest in the business to support
future growth. The Company also has a senior secured revolving credit facility of up to $400 million (the "ABL
Facility") available as a source of additional funding.

Asset-Based Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan Facility

On August 7, 2014, the Company entered into an asset-based revolving credit agreement. The agreement provides for
a senior secured revolving credit facility of up to $400 million (the "ABL Facility"), subject to a borrowing base. The
ABL Facility is available for working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes.

The Company also entered into a term loan agreement on August 7, 2014, which provides for a term loan facility of
$300 million (the "Term Loan Facility" and, together with the ABL Facility, the "2014 Credit Facilities"). A portion
of the proceeds of the Term
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Loan Facility were used to repay the outstanding balance of approximately $127.5 million under the Company's 2012
term loan agreement, to repay outstanding borrowings of approximately $60 million under the Company's 2011 credit
agreement and to pay fees and expenses associated with the transaction.

Maturity, Amortization, Prepayments and Interest

The ABL Facility will mature on August 7, 2019. The Term Loan Facility will mature on August 7, 2021 and
amortizes at a rate equal to 0.25% of the original principal amount per quarter, beginning with the fourth quarter of
Fiscal 2014. The Term Loan Facility is subject to (a) beginning in 2016, an annual mandatory prepayment in an
amount equal to 0% to 50% of the Company's excess cash flows in the preceding fiscal year, depending on the
Company's leverage ratio and (b) certain other mandatory prepayments upon receipt by the Company of proceeds of
certain debt issuances, asset sales and casualty events, subject to certain exceptions specified therein, including
reinvestment rights. The interest rate on borrowings under the Term Loan Facility was 4.75% as of January 31, 2015.
The gross amount outstanding under the Term Loan Facility was $299.3 million as of January 31, 2015.

The Company's credit facilities are described in Note 12, "BORROWINGS" of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in "ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA," of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $312.5 million for Fiscal 2014 compared to $175.5 million for Fiscal
2013 and $684.2 million for Fiscal 2012. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities from Fiscal 2013
was primarily driven by changes in inventory and accounts payable and accrued expenses. The decrease in net cash
provided by operating activities in Fiscal 2013 from Fiscal 2012 was primarily driven by lower net income, adjusted
for non-cash items, including asset impairment charges, and changes in inventory and income taxes.

Investing Activities

Cash outflows for investing activities in Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012 were used primarily for capital
expenditures related to new stores, store refreshes and remodels, information technology, distribution center and other
home office projects.

Financing Activities

For Fiscal 2014, cash outflows for financing activities consisted primarily of the repurchase of A&F's Common Stock
of $285.0 million, the repayment of borrowings of $195.8 million and the payment of dividends of $57.4 million. For
Fiscal 2013, cash outflows for financing activities consisted primarily of the repurchase of A&F's Common Stock of
$115.8 million, the payment of dividends of $61.9 million and the repayment of borrowings of $15.0 million. For
Fiscal 2012, cash outflows for financing activities consisted primarily of the repurchase of A&F’s Common Stock of
$321.7 million, the repayment of borrowings of $135.0 million and the payment of dividends of $57.6 million. For
Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013, and Fiscal 2012, cash inflows from financing activities consisted primarily of proceeds from
borrowings of $357.0 million, $150.0 million and $135.0 million, respectively.

During Fiscal 2014, A&F repurchased approximately 7.3 million shares of A&F’s Common Stock, of which
approximately 3.5 million shares with a market value of approximately $135.0 million were purchased in the open
market and approximately 3.8 million shares with an aggregate cost of $150.0 million were purchased pursuant to an
accelerated share repurchase agreement. During Fiscal 2013, A&F repurchased approximately 2.4 million shares of
A&F's Common Stock in the open market with a market value of $115.8 million. During Fiscal 2012, A&F
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repurchased approximately 7.5 million shares of A&F’s Common Stock in the open market with a market value of
$321.7 million. Repurchase of A&F's Common Stock were made pursuant to the A&F Board of Directors'
authorizations.

As of January 31, 2015, A&F had approximately 9.0 million remaining shares available for repurchase as part of the
A&F Board of Directors’ previously approved authorization.

Future Cash Requirements and Sources of Cash

Over the next 12 months, the Company’s primary cash requirements will be to fund operating activities, including the
acquisition of inventory, and obligations related to compensation, leases, taxes and other operating activities, as well
as to fund capital expenditures and quarterly dividends to stockholders subject to approval by the Company's Board of
Directors. The Company has availability under the ABL Facility as a source of additional funding.
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The Company may continue to repurchase shares of its Common Stock and would anticipate funding these cash
requirements utilizing free cash flow generated from operations.

The Company is not dependent on dividends from its foreign subsidiaries to fund its U.S. operations or make
distributions to A&F's stockholders. Unremitted earnings from foreign subsidiaries, which are considered to be
invested indefinitely, would become subject to U.S. income tax if they were remitted as dividends or were lent to
A&F or a U.S. affiliate. Although the Company has no intent to repatriate cash held in Europe and Asia, the Company
has the ability to repatriate current Europe and Asia cash balances without the occurrence of a taxable dividend in the
United States.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company uses in the ordinary course of business stand-by letters of credit under the existing ABL Facility. The
Company had $9.2 million in stand-by letters of credit outstanding as of January 31, 2015. The Company has no other
off-balance sheet arrangements.

Contractual Obligations
Payments due by period

(in thousands) Total Less than 1 year1-3 years 3-5 years More than 5 years
Long-Term Debt Obligations $299,250 $3,000 $6,000 $6,000 $ 284,250
Capital Lease Obligatons 2,792 734 1,468 590 —
Operating Lease Obligations (1) 2,016,639 412,317 651,669 377,225 575,428
Purchase Obligations 254,742 225,213 29,362 167 —
Other Obligations 31,849 1,338 2,328 8,627 19,556
Dividends — — — — —
Totals $2,605,272 $642,602 $690,827 $392,609 $ 879,234

(1) Includes leasehold financing obligations of $50.5 million and related interest. Refer to Note 2, "SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES," of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in “ITEM 8.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional
information.

Long-term debt obligations consist of principal payments under the Term Loan Agreement. Refer to Note 12,
"BORROWINGS," of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

Operating lease obligations consist primarily of non-cancelable future minimum lease commitments related to store
operating leases. See Note 2, “SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES--LEASED FACILITIES,”
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for further discussion. Excluded from the
obligations above are amounts related to portions of lease terms that are currently cancelable at the Company's
discretion. While included in the obligations above, in many instances, the Company has options to terminate certain
leases if stated sales volume levels are not met or the Company ceases operations in a given country. Operating lease
obligations do not include common area maintenance (“CAM”), insurance, marketing or tax payments for which the
Company is also obligated. Total expense related to CAM, insurance, marketing and taxes was $172.3 million in
Fiscal 2014.

The purchase obligations category represents purchase orders for merchandise to be delivered during Fiscal 2015 and
commitments for fabric expected to be used during upcoming seasons. In addition, purchase obligations include
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agreements to purchase goods or services including information technology contracts and third-party distribution
center service contracts.

Other obligations consist primarily of asset retirement obligations and the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan.
See Note 16, “RETIREMENT BENEFITS,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in “ITEM 8.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for further
discussion.

Due to uncertainty as to the amounts and timing of future payments, the contractual obligations table above does not
include tax (including accrued interest and penalties) of $4.6 million related to uncertain tax positions at January 31,
2015. Deferred taxes are also not included in the preceding table. For further discussion, see Note 11, “INCOME
TAXES,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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A&F has historically paid quarterly dividends on its Common Stock. There are no amounts included in the above table
related to dividends due to the fact that dividends are subject to determination and approval by A&F's Board of
Directors.

Gilly Hicks Restructuring

As previously announced, on November 1, 2013, A&F’s Board of Directors approved the closure of the Company’s 24
stand-alone Gilly Hicks stores. The Company substantially completed the store closures as planned by the end of the
first quarter of Fiscal 2014. The Company continues to offer Gilly Hicks products through the Hollister
direct-to-consumer channel.

As a result of exiting the Gilly Hicks branded stores, the Company currently estimates that it will incur aggregate
pre-tax charges of approximately $91.2 million, of which $8.4 million in charges, primarily related to lease
terminations and asset impairment, was recognized during Fiscal 2014 and $81.5 million was recognized during Fiscal
2013.

Below is a summary of the aggregate pre-tax charges incurred through January 31, 2015 related to the closure of the
Gilly Hicks branded stores (in thousands):
Lease terminations and store closure costs $48,665
Asset impairment 40,036
Other 1,230
Total charges (1) $89,931

(1) As of January 31, 2015, the Company incurred aggregate pre-tax charges related to restructuring plans for the Gilly
Hicks brand of $50.4 million for the U.S. Stores segment and $39.5 million for the International Stores segment.

The remaining charges, primarily lease-related, including the net present value of payments related to lease
terminations, potential sub-lease losses and other lease-related costs of approximately $1.3 million, are expected to be
recognized over the remaining lease terms. These estimates are based on a number of significant assumptions and
could change materially.

Costs associated with exit or disposal activities are recorded when the liability is incurred. Below is a roll forward of
the liabilities recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of January 31, 2015, related to the closure of the Gilly
Hicks stores (in thousands): 
Accrued liability as of February 1, 2014 $42,507
Costs incurred 11,631
Cash payments (48,141 )
Accrued liability as of January 31, 2015 $5,997
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Store Activity

During the year, the Company opened seven international Hollister chain stores, three international Abercrombie &
Fitch chain stores, including its first in the Middle East, and opened a Hollister chain store and an abercrombie kids
store in the U.S. In addition, the Company opened its first Abercrombie & Fitch flagship store in Shanghai and its first
international abercrombie kids flagship store in London. The Company also opened nine outlet stores during the year,
three internationally, in Europe and Asia, and six in the U.S. In addition, the Company closed 52 U.S. stores and eight
international stores, seven of which were Gilly Hicks stores.

Year-To-Date Store Count and Gross Square Feet

Store count and gross square footage by brand for Fiscal 2014 and Fiscal 2013, respectively, were as follows:

Store Activity Abercrombie &
Fitch abercrombie Hollister Gilly Hicks Total

(Gross square feet amounts in
thousands)
U.S. Stores
February 1, 2014 253 131 458 1 843
New 5 1 2 — 8
Closed (8 ) (16 ) (27 ) (1 ) (52 )
January 31, 2015 250 116 433 — 799
Gross Square Feet at January 31,
2015 2,209 589 2,988 — 5,786

International Stores
February 1, 2014 22 5 129 7 163
New 7 1 7 — 15
Closed — — (1 ) (7 ) (8 )
January 31, 2015 29 6 135 — 170
Gross Square Feet at January 31,
2015 479 81 1,171 — 1,731

Total Stores 279 122 568 — 969
Total Gross Square Feet at
January 31, 2015 2,688 670 4,159 — 7,517

Store Activity Abercrombie & Fitchabercrombie Hollister Gilly Hicks Total
(Gross square feet amounts in
thousands)
U.S. Stores
February 2, 2013 266 141 478 17 902
New 2 — 1 — 3
Closed (15) (10) (21) (16 ) (62 )
February 1, 2014 253 131 458 1 843
Gross Square Feet at February 1,
2014 2,267 635 3,156 7 6,065

International Stores
February 2, 2013 19 6 107 7 139
New 3 — 22 — 25
Closed — (1 ) — — (1 )
February 1, 2014 22 5 129 7 163
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Gross Square Feet at February 1,
2014 423 66 1,133 49 1,671

Total Stores 275 136 587 8 1,006
Total Gross Square Feet at
February 1, 2014 2,690 701 4,289 56 7,736
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Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures totaled $174.6 million, $163.9 million and $339.9 million for Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal
2012, respectively. A summary of capital expenditures is as follows:
Capital Expenditures (in millions) Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012
New Store Construction, Store Refreshes and Remodels $86.3 $101.4 $245.3
Home Office, Distribution Centers and Information Technology 88.3 62.5 94.6
Total Capital Expenditures $174.6 $163.9 $339.9

During Fiscal 2015, the Company expects capital expenditures of approximately $150 million, which are prioritized
toward new stores and store updates, as well as direct-to-consumer and information technology investments to support
growth initiatives.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2, "SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUTING POLICIES - RECENT ACCOUNTING
PRONOUNCEMENTS" of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in "ITEM 8. FINANCIAL
STATEMENT AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA," of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for recent accounting
pronouncements, including the expected dates of adoption and estimate effects on our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

CRITCAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The Company’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations are based upon the
Company’s consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements
requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses. Since actual results may differ from those estimates, the Company revises its estimates and
assumptions as new information becomes available.

The Company believes the following policies are the most critical to the portrayal of the Company’s financial
condition and results of operations.
Policy Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions
Revenue Recognition

The Company reserves for sales returns through estimates
based on historical experience and various other
assumptions that management believes to be reasonable.

The Company has not made any material changes in the
accounting methodology used to determine the sales return
reserve over the past three fiscal years.

The Company does not expect material changes in the near
term to the underlying assumptions used to measure the
sales return reserve as of January 31, 2015. However,
changes in these assumptions do occur, and, should those
changes be significant, the Company may be exposed to
gains or losses that could be material.

Inventory Valuation
The Company reduces the inventory valuation when the
cost of specific inventory items on hand exceeds the
amount expected to be realized from the ultimate sale or
disposal of the goods through a lower of cost or market

The Company does not expect material changes in the near
term to the underlying assumptions used to determine the
shrink reserve or the LCM reserve as of January 31, 2015.
However, changes in these assumptions do occur, and,
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("LCM") reserve. should those changes be significant, they could
significantly impact the ending inventory valuation at cost,
as well as the resulting gross margin.

An increase or decrease in the LCM reserve of 10% would
have affected pre-tax income by approximately $1.3
million for Fiscal 2014.

Additionally, as part of inventory valuation, an inventory
shrink estimate is made each period that reduces the
value of inventory for lost or stolen items.

An increase or decrease in the inventory shrink accrual of
10% would have affected pre-tax income by
approximately $1.1 million for Fiscal 2014.
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Policy Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions
Property and Equipment
Long-lived assets, primarily comprising of property and
equipment, are tested for recoverability whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the long-lived asset might not be recoverable.
On at least a quarterly basis, the Company reviews for
indicators of impairment. In addition, the Company
conducts an annual impairment analysis in the fourth
quarter of each year. For the purposes of the annual
review, the Company reviews long-lived assets
associated with stores that have an operating loss in the
current year or otherwise display an indicator of
impairment.

Based on the impact of current sales trends, a number of
stores were tested for impairment during the third quarter.
In addition, the Company performed the annual review
during the fourth quarter. The stores that were tested and
not impaired had a net asset group value of $3.6 million
and had undiscounted cash flows which were in the range
of 100% to 150% of their respective net asset values.

The Company’s impairment assessment requires
management to make assumptions and judgments related
to factors used in the evaluation for impairment,
including, but not limited to, management's expectations
for future operations and projected cash flows. The key
assumptions used in the Company's undiscounted future
cash flow model include sales, gross margin and, to a
lesser extent, operating expenses.

A 10% decrease in the sales assumption used to project
future cash flows in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2014
impairment test would have increased the impairment
charge by approximately $2.0 million.

Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes is determined using the
asset and liability approach. Tax laws often require items
to be included in tax filings at different times than the
items are being reflected in the financial statements. A
current liability is recognized for the estimated taxes
payable for the current year. Deferred taxes represent the
future tax consequences expected to occur when the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities are recovered or
paid. Deferred taxes are adjusted for enacted changes in
tax rates and tax laws. Valuation allowances are recorded
to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than
not that a tax benefit will not be realized.

The Company does not expect material changes in the
judgments, assumptions or interpretations used to calculate
the tax provision for Fiscal 2014. However, changes in
these assumptions may occur and should those changes be
significant, they could have a material impact on the
Company’s income tax provision.

A provision for U.S. income tax has not been recorded on
undistributed profits of non-U.S. subsidiaries that the
Company has determined to be indefinitely reinvested
outside the U.S. Determination of the amount of
unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liability on these
unremitted earnings is not practicable because of the
complexities associated with this hypothetical
calculation.

If the Company’s intention or U.S. and/or international tax
law changes in the future, there may be a material negative
impact on the provision for income taxes to record an
incremental tax liability in the period the change occurs.
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The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties
related to uncertain tax positions as a component of tax
expense upon settlement, law changes or expiration of
statute of limitations.

Of the total uncertain tax positions, it is reasonably
possible that $1.5 million to $2.5 million could change in
the next 12 months due to audit settlements, expiration of
statutes of limitations or other resolution of uncertainties.
Due to the uncertain and complex application of tax laws
and/or regulations, it is possible that the ultimate
resolution of audits may result in amounts which could be
different from this estimate. In such case, the Company
will record an adjustment in the period in which such
matters are effectively settled.
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Policy Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions
Equity Compensation Expense

The Company’s equity compensation expense related to
stock appreciation rights granted is estimated using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair
value of the stock appreciation right grants, which
requires the Company to estimate the expected term of
the stock appreciation right grants and expected future
stock price volatility over the expected term.

During Fiscal 2014, the Company granted stock
appreciation rights covering an aggregate of 512,216
shares. A 10% increase in the assumed expected term
would have yielded a 4% increase in the Black-Scholes
valuation for stock appreciation rights granted during the
year, while a 10% increase in assumed stock price
volatility would have yielded a 9% increase in the
Black-Scholes valuation for stock appreciation rights
granted during the year. This would result in an increase to
expense by an insignificant amount.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
Effective February 2, 2003, the Company established a
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan to provide
additional retirement income to its former CEO. On
December 8, 2014, the former CEO retired from his
position as A&F's Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Jeffries'
employment with the Company terminated on December
31, 2014. In connection with his Employment
Agreement, the former CEO will receive a monthly
benefit equal to 50% of his final average compensation
(as defined in the SERP) for life. The Company’s accrual
for the SERP requires management to make assumptions
and judgments related to the CEO’s life expectancy and
discount rate.

The Company does not expect material changes in the near
term to the underlying assumptions used to determine the
accrual for the SERP. However, changes in these
assumptions do occur, and, should those changes be
significant, the Company may be exposed to gains or
losses that could be material.

A 50 basis point increase in the discount rate would
decrease the SERP accrual by an insignificant amount.

Legal Contingencies
The Company is a defendant in lawsuits and other
adversarial proceedings arising in the ordinary course of
business. Legal costs incurred in connection with the
resolution of claims and lawsuits are expensed as
incurred, and the Company establishes reserves for the
outcome of litigation where it deems appropriate to do so
under applicable accounting rules.

Actual liabilities may exceed or be less than the amounts
reserved, and there can be no assurance that the final
resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.

ITEM 7A.QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Investment Securities

The Company maintains its cash equivalents in financial instruments, primarily money market funds and United
States treasury bills, with original maturities of three months or less.

The irrevocable rabbi trust (the “Rabbi Trust”) is intended to be used as a source of funds to match respective funding
obligations to participants in the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Nonqualified Savings and Supplemental Retirement Plan I,
the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Nonqualified Savings and Supplemental Retirement Plan II and the Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan. The Rabbi Trust assets primarily consist of trust-owned life insurance policies which are
recorded at cash surrender value. The change in cash surrender value of the trust-owned life insurance policies held in
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the Rabbi Trust resulted in realized gains of $3.2 million, $2.6 million and $2.4 million for Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013
and Fiscal 2012, respectively, recorded in Interest Expense, Net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive (Loss) Income.

The Rabbi Trust assets are included in Other Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are restricted in their use
as noted above.
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Interest Rate Risks

On August 7, 2014, the Company entered into new credit agreements and all amounts outstanding under the
Company's previously existing term loan facility and revolving credit facility were repaid in full. The Company has
approximately $299.3 million in gross borrowings outstanding under its new term loan facility (the "Term Loan
Facility") and no borrowings outstanding under its new senior secured revolving credit facility (the "ABL Facility"
and, together with the Term Loan Facility, the "2014 Credit Facilities"). The 2014 Credit Facilities carry interest rates
that are tied to LIBOR or an alternate base rate plus a margin. The interest rate on the Term Loan Facility has a 100
basis point LIBOR floor, and assuming no changes in the Company's financial structure as it stands, an increase in
market interest rates of 100 basis points would not have a material effect on annual interest expense. This hypothetical
analysis for Fiscal 2014 may differ from the actual change in interest expense due to various conditions which may
result in changes in interest rates under the Company's 2014 Credit Facilities.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

A&F’s international subsidiaries generally operate with functional currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. The
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in U.S. Dollars. Therefore, the Company must translate
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities from functional currencies into U.S. Dollars at exchange rates in effect
during or at the end of the reporting period. The fluctuation in the value of the U.S. Dollar against other currencies
affects the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities. The potential impact of currency fluctuation
increases as international expansion increases.

A&F and its subsidiaries have exposure to changes in currency exchange rates associated with foreign currency
transactions and forecasted foreign currency transactions, including the sale of inventory between subsidiaries and
foreign denominated assets and liabilities. Such transactions are denominated primarily in U.S. Dollars, Australian
Dollars, British Pounds, Canadian Dollars, Chinese Yuan, Danish Kroner, Euros, Hong Kong Dollars, Japanese Yen,
Kuwaiti Dinars, New Taiwan Dollars, Polish Zloty, Singapore Dollars, South Korean Won, Swedish Kronor, Swiss
Francs and UAE Dirhams. The Company has established a program that primarily utilizes foreign currency forward
contracts to partially offset the risks associated with the effects of certain foreign currency transactions and forecasted
transactions. Under this program, increases or decreases in foreign currency exposures are partially offset by gains or
losses on forward contracts, to mitigate the impact of foreign currency gains or losses. The Company does not use
forward contracts to engage in currency speculation. All outstanding foreign currency forward contracts are recorded
at fair value at the end of each fiscal period.

The fair value of outstanding foreign currency exchange forward contracts included in Other Current Assets was $10.3
million and $1.0 million as of January 31, 2015 and February 1, 2014, respectively. The fair value of outstanding
foreign currency exchange forward contracts included in Other Liabilities was insignificant as of January 31, 2015,
and $2.6 million as of February 1, 2014. Foreign currency exchange forward contracts are sensitive to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. The Company assessed the risk of loss in fair values from the effect of a hypothetical
10% devaluation of the U.S. Dollar against the exchange rates for foreign currencies under contract. The results would
decrease derivative contract fair values by approximately $7.9 million. As the Company's foreign currency exchange
forward contracts are primarily designated as cash flow hedges of forecasted transactions, the hypothetical change in
fair value would be largely offset by the net change in the fair values of the underlying hedged items.
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ITEM 8.FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME
(Thousands, except per share amounts)

2014 2013 2012
NET SALES $3,744,030 $4,116,897 $4,510,805
Cost of Goods Sold 1,430,460 1,541,462 1,694,096
GROSS PROFIT 2,313,570 2,575,435 2,816,709
Stores and Distribution Expense 1,703,051 1,907,687 1,980,519
Marketing, General and Administrative Expense 458,820 481,784 473,883
Restructuring Charges 8,431 81,500 —
Asset Impairment 44,988 46,715 7,407
Other Operating Income, Net (15,239 ) (23,074 ) (19,333 )
OPERATING INCOME 113,519 80,823 374,233
Interest Expense, Net 14,365 7,546 7,288
INCOME BEFORE TAXES 99,154 73,277 366,945
Tax Expense 47,333 18,649 129,934
NET INCOME $51,821 $54,628 $237,011

NET INCOME PER SHARE:
BASIC $0.72 $0.71 $2.89
DILUTED $0.71 $0.69 $2.85

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING:
BASIC 71,785 77,157 81,940
DILUTED 72,937 78,666 83,175

DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER SHARE $0.80 $0.80 $0.70

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments $(77,929 ) $(12,683 ) $(427 )
Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Derivative Financial Instruments, net of
taxes 15,266 5,054 (19,152 )

Other Comprehensive Loss (62,663 ) (7,629 ) (19,579 )
COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME $(10,842 ) $46,999 $217,432
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Thousands, except par value amounts)

January 31,
2015

February 1,
2014

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and Equivalents $520,708 $600,116
Receivables 52,910 67,965
Inventories 460,794 530,192
Deferred Income Taxes, Net 13,986 21,835
Other Current Assets 116,574 100,458
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,164,972 1,320,566
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 967,001 1,131,341
OTHER ASSETS 373,194 399,090
TOTAL ASSETS $2,505,167 $2,850,997
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts Payable $141,685 $130,715
Accrued Expenses 282,736 322,834
Short-Term Portion of Deferred Lease Credits 26,629 36,165
Income Taxes Payable 32,804 63,508
Short-Term Portion of Borrowings, Net 2,102 15,000
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 485,956 568,222
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Long-Term Portion of Deferred Lease Credits 106,393 140,799
Long-Term Portion of Borrowings, Net 291,310 120,000
Leasehold Financing Obligations 50,521 60,726
Other Liabilities 181,286 231,757
TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 629,510 553,282
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Class A Common Stock — $0.01 par value: 150,000 shares authorized and 103,300
shares issued at each of January 31, 2015 and February 1, 2014 1,033 1,033

Paid-In Capital 434,137 433,620
Retained Earnings 2,550,673 2,556,270
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss, net of tax (83,580 ) (20,917 )
Treasury Stock, at Average Cost — 33,948 and 26,898 shares at January 31, 2015 and
February 1, 2014, respectively (1,512,562 ) (1,240,513 )

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 1,389,701 1,729,493
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $2,505,167 $2,850,997
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Thousands, except per share amounts)

Common Stock

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
(Loss)
Income

Treasury Stock
Total
Stockholders’
Equity

Shares
Outstanding

Par
Value Shares At Average

Cost

Balance, January 28, 2012 85,638 $1,033 $369,171 $2,389,614 $6,291 17,662 $(834,774 ) $1,931,335
Net Income — — — 237,011 — — — 237,011
Purchase of Common Stock(7,548 ) — — — — 7,548 (321,665 ) (321,665 )
Dividends ($0.70 per share)— — — (57,634 ) — — — (57,634 )
Share-Based Compensation
Issuances and Exercises 355 — (18,356 ) (1,730 ) — (355 ) 16,430 (3,656 )

Tax Effect of Share-Based
Compensation Issuances
and Exercises

— — (466 ) — — — — (466 )

Share-Based Compensation
Expense — — 52,922 — — — — 52,922

Net Change in Unrealized
Gains or Losses on
Derivative Financial
Instruments

— — — — (19,152 ) — (19,152 )

Foreign Currency
Translation Adjustments — — — — (427 ) — (427 )

Balance, February 2, 2013 78,445 $1,033 $403,271 $2,567,261 $(13,288 ) 24,855 $(1,140,009) $1,818,268
Net Income — — — 54,628 — — — 54,628
Purchase of Common Stock(2,383 ) — — — — 2,383 (115,806 ) (115,806 )
Dividends ($0.80 per share)— — — (61,923 ) — — — (61,923 )
Share-Based Compensation
Issuances and Exercises 340 — (19,363 ) (3,696 ) — (340 ) 15,302 (7,757 )

Tax Effect of Share-Based
Compensation Issuances
and Exercises

— — (3,804 ) — — — — (3,804 )

Share-Based Compensation
Expense — — 53,516 — — — — 53,516

Net Change in Unrealized
Gains or Losses on
Derivative Financial
Instruments

— — — — 5,054 — 5,054

Foreign Currency
Translation Adjustments — — — — (12,683 ) — (12,683 )

Balance, February 1, 2014 76,402 $1,033 $433,620 $2,556,270 $(20,917 ) 26,898 $(1,240,513) $1,729,493
Net Income — — — 51,821 — — — 51,821
Purchase of Common Stock(7,324 ) — — — — 7,324 (285,038 ) (285,038 )
Dividends ($0.80 per share)— — — (57,362 ) — — — (57,362 )
Share-Based Compensation
Issuances and Exercises 274 — (17,884 ) (56 ) — (274 ) 12,989 (4,951 )

— — (4,626 ) — — — — (4,626 )
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Tax Effect of Share-Based
Compensation Issuances
and Exercises
Share-Based Compensation
Expense — — 23,027 — — — — 23,027

Net Change in Unrealized
Gains or Losses on
Derivative Financial
Instruments

— — — — 15,266 — 15,266

Foreign Currency
Translation Adjustments — — — — (77,929 ) — (77,929 )

Balance, January 31, 2015 69,352 $1,033 $434,137 $2,550,673 $(83,580 ) 33,948 $(1,512,562) $1,389,701
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Thousands)

2014 2013 2012
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net Income $51,821 $54,628 $237,011
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities
Depreciation and Amortization 226,421 235,240 224,245
Non-Cash Charge for Asset Impairment 47,084 84,655 7,407
Loss on Disposal / Write-off of Assets 5,794 16,909 11,866
Lessor Construction Allowances 13,182 20,523 22,522
Amortization of Deferred Lease Credits (38,437 ) (45,895 ) (45,942 )
Provision for (Benefit from) Deferred Income Taxes 1,676 (41,263 ) (21,543 )
Share-Based Compensation 23,027 53,516 52,922
Gain on Auction Rate Securities — — (2,454 )
Changes in Assets and Liabilities:
Inventories 62,854 (103,304 ) 253,650
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses (37,394 ) (73,749 ) (34,692 )
Income Taxes (34,659 ) (55,456 ) 35,964
Other Assets 6,888 44,138 (34,318 )
Other Liabilities (15,777 ) (14,449 ) (22,467 )
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 312,480 175,493 684,171
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Capital Expenditures (174,624 ) (163,924 ) (339,862 )
Proceeds from Sales of Marketable Securities — — 101,963
Other Investing (450 ) (9,937 ) (9,339 )
NET CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES (175,074 ) (173,861 ) (247,238 )
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from Share-Based Compensation 254 213 2,676
Excess Tax Benefit from Share-Based Compensation 304 2,480 1,198
Proceeds from Borrowings 357,000 150,000 135,000
Repayment of Borrowings (195,750 ) (15,000 ) (135,000 )
Debt Issuance Costs (861 ) — —
Purchase of Treasury Stock (285,038 ) (115,806 ) (321,665 )
Dividends Paid (57,362 ) (61,923 ) (57,634 )
Other Financing — (795 ) (4,646 )
NET CASH USED FOR FINANCING ACTIVITIES (181,453 ) (40,831 ) (380,071 )
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH (35,361 ) (4,190 ) 3,148
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS: (79,408 ) (43,389 ) 60,010
Cash and Equivalents, Beginning of Period 600,116 643,505 583,495
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD $520,708 $600,116 $643,505
SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Change in Accrual for Construction in Progress $6,525 $10,820 $(12,919 )
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION:
Cash Paid for Interest $18,609 $4,565 $4,217
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

Abercrombie & Fitch Co. (“A&F”), a company incorporated in Delaware in 1996, through its subsidiaries (collectively,
A&F and its subsidiaries are referred to as “Abercrombie & Fitch” or the “Company”), is a specialty retailer that operates
stores and direct-to-consumer operations. Through these channels, the Company sells a broad array of products,
including: casual sportswear apparel, including knit and woven shirts, graphic t-shirts, fleece, jeans and woven pants,
shorts, sweaters and outerwear; personal care products; and accessories for men, women and kids under the
Abercrombie & Fitch, abercrombie kids, and Hollister brands. The Company also sells bras, underwear, personal care
products, sleepwear and at-home products for girls through Hollister under the Gilly Hicks brand. The Company
operates stores in North America, Europe, Asia, Australia and the Middle East and direct-to-consumer operations in
North America, Europe and Asia that service its brands throughout the world.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of A&F and its subsidiaries. All intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

FISCAL YEAR

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to January 31. All references herein to “Fiscal 2014” represent
the 52-week fiscal year ended January 31, 2015; to “Fiscal 2013” represent the 52-week fiscal year ended February 1,
2014; and to “Fiscal 2012” represent the 53-week fiscal year ended February 2, 2013. In addition, all references herein
to “Fiscal 2015” represent the 52-week fiscal year that will end on January 30, 2016.

REVISIONS AND RECLASSIFICATIONS

The fifty-two week periods ended January 31, 2015 and February 1, 2014 included the correction of certain
immaterial errors relating to prior periods. The out-of-period correction of errors resulted in a reduction to income
before taxes of $2.9 million, or $1.8 million after tax, and an unrelated tax charge of $0.4 million, for a combined
reduction to net income of $2.2 million for the fifty-two week period ended January 31, 2015. The out-of-period
correction of errors resulted in an increase to income before taxes of $2.6 million, or $0.8 million after tax, and an
unrelated tax charge of $0.9 million, for a combined reduction to net income of $0.1 million for the fifty-two week
period ended February 1, 2014. In addition, amounts recorded out-of-period included a reduction to net cash provided
by operating activities of $11.8 million for the fifty-two week period ended January 31, 2015. The Company does not
believe these corrections were material to any current or prior interim or annual periods that were affected.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of net sales and expenses during the reporting period. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved with
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estimates, actual results may differ.

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS

Cash and equivalents include amounts on deposit with financial institutions, United States treasury bills, and other
investments, primarily held in money market accounts, with original maturities of less than three months.
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RESTRICTED CASH

Any cash that is legally restricted from use is recorded in Other Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
restricted cash balance was $14.8 million and $26.7 million on January 31, 2015 and February 1, 2014, respectively.
Restricted cash includes various cash deposits with international banks that are used as collateral for customary
non-debt banking commitments and deposits into trust accounts to conform to standard insurance security
requirements.

RABBI TRUST ASSETS

See Note 4, “RABBI TRUST ASSETS.”

RECEIVABLES

Receivables primarily include credit card receivables, construction allowances, value added tax (“VAT”) receivables
and other tax credits or refunds.

As part of the normal course of business, the Company has approximately three to four days of proceeds from sales
transactions outstanding with its third-party credit card vendors at any point. The Company classifies these
outstanding balances as credit card receivables. Construction allowances are recorded for certain store lease
agreements for improvements completed by the Company. VAT receivables are payments the Company has made on
purchases of goods that will be recovered as those goods are sold.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are principally valued at the lower of cost or market on a weighted-average cost basis. The Company
writes down inventory through a lower of cost or market adjustment, the impact of which is reflected in Cost of Goods
Sold in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income. This adjustment is based on
management's judgment regarding future demand and market conditions and analysis of historical experience. The
lower of cost or market reserve for inventory was $12.7 million and $22.1 million as of January 31, 2015 and
February 1, 2014, respectively.

Additionally, as part of inventory valuation, inventory shrinkage estimates based on historical trends from actual
physical inventories are made each period that reduce the inventory value for lost or stolen items. The Company
performs physical inventories on a periodic basis and adjusts the shrink reserve accordingly. The shrink reserve was
$11.4 million and $13.6 million at January 31, 2015 and February 1, 2014, respectively.

The inventory balance, net of reserves, was $460.8 million and $530.2 million at January 31, 2015 and February 1,
2014, respectively. These balances included inventory in transit from vendors of $56.1 million and $76.4 million at
January 31, 2015 and February 1, 2014, respectively. Inventory in transit is considered to be merchandise owned by
the Company that has not yet been received at a Company distribution center.

OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Other current assets include prepaid rent, current store supplies, derivative contracts and other prepaids.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
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Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment are computed for financial reporting purposes on a
straight-line basis using the following service lives:
Category of Property and Equipment Service Lives
Information technology 3 - 7 years
Furnitures, fixtures and equipment 3 - 15 years
Leasehold improvements 3 - 15 years
Other property and equipment 3 - 20 years
Buildings 30 years
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Leasehold improvements are amortized over either their respective lease terms or their service lives, whichever is
shorter. The cost of assets sold or retired and the related accumulated depreciation or amortization are removed from
the accounts with any resulting gain or loss included in net income. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as
incurred. Major remodels and improvements that extend the service lives of the related assets are capitalized.

Long-lived assets, primarily comprising of property and equipment, are tested for recoverability whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the long-lived asset may not be recoverable. On at least
a quarterly basis, the Company reviews for indicators of impairment. In addition, the Company conducts an annual
impairment analysis in the fourth quarter of each year. For purposes of the annual review, the Company reviews
long-lived assets associated with stores that have an operating loss in the current year or otherwise display an indicator
of impairment. The Company tests long-lived assets for impairments in the quarter in which a triggering event occurs.
See Note 17, "SEGMENT REPORTING," for additional information about how store operating income or loss is
determined.

The reviews are conducted at the individual store level, which is the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are
largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets and liabilities.

The impairment evaluation is performed as a two-step test. First, the Company utilizes an undiscounted future cash
flow model to test the individual asset groups for recoverability. If the net carrying value of the asset group exceeds
the undiscounted cash flows, the Company proceeds to step two. Under step two, an impairment loss is recognized for
the excess of net book value over the fair value of the assets. Factors used in the evaluation include, but are not limited
to, management’s plans for future operations, recent operating results and projected cash flows. See Note 6,
“PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET,” for further discussion.

The Company expenses all internal-use software costs incurred in the preliminary project stage and capitalizes certain
direct costs associated with the development and purchase of internal-use software within property and equipment.
Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the software, generally not
exceeding seven years.

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are calculated using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
based on the difference between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using current enacted tax rates in effect for the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse. Inherent in the determination of the Company's
income tax liability and related deferred income tax balances are certain judgments and interpretations of enacted tax
law and published guidance with respect to applicability to the Company's operations. The Company is subject to
audit by taxing authorities, usually several years after tax returns have been filed, and the taxing authorities may have
differing interpretations of tax laws. Valuation allowances are established to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount
expected to be realized when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized.

The Company records tax expense or benefit that does not relate to ordinary income in the current fiscal year
discretely in the period in which it occurs. Examples of such types of discrete items include, but are not limited to:
changes in estimates of the outcome of tax matters related to prior years, assessments of valuation allowances,
return-to-provision adjustments, tax-exempt income, and the settlement of tax audits and changes in tax legislation.
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See Note 11, “INCOME TAXES,” for a discussion regarding the Company’s policies for uncertain tax positions.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION AND TRANSACTIONS

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is generally the local currencies in which they operate.
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. Dollars (the reporting currency) at the
exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. Equity accounts denominated in foreign currencies are translated
into U.S. Dollars at historical exchange rates. Revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated
into U.S. Dollars at the monthly average exchange rate for the period. Gains and losses resulting from foreign
currency transactions are included in the results of operations; whereas, translation adjustments and inter-company
loans of a long-term investment nature are reported as an element of Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income. Foreign
currency transactions resulted in a loss of $2.0 million for Fiscal 2014 and a gain of $2.9 million and $3.3 million for
Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively.
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DERIVATIVES

See Note 13, “DERIVATIVES.”

CONTINGENCIES

The Company is a defendant in lawsuits and other adversary proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business.
Legal costs incurred in connection with the resolution of claims and lawsuits are generally expensed as incurred, and
the Company establishes reserves for the outcome of litigation where it deems appropriate to do so under applicable
accounting rules. The Company’s assessment of the current exposure could change in the event of the discovery of
additional facts with respect to legal matters pending against the Company or determinations by judges, juries,
administrative agencies or other finders of fact that are not in accordance with the Company’s evaluation of claims.
Actual liabilities may exceed the amounts reserved, and there can be no assurance that final resolution of these matters
will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. The
Company has established accruals for certain matters where losses are deemed probable and reasonably estimable.
There are other claims and legal proceedings pending against the Company for which accruals have not been
established.

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

At January 31, 2015 and February 1, 2014, there were 150.0 million shares of A&F’s Class A Common Stock, $0.01
par value, authorized, of which 69.4 million and 76.4 million were outstanding at January 31, 2015 and February 1,
2014, respectively, and 106.4 million shares of Class B Common Stock, $0.01 par value, authorized, none of which
were outstanding at January 31, 2015 and February 1, 2014.

Holders of Class A Common Stock generally have identical rights to holders of Class B Common Stock, except
holders of Class A Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share while holders of Class B Common Stock are
entitled to three votes per share on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes store sales at the time the customer takes possession of the merchandise. Direct-to-consumer
sales are recorded based on an estimated date for customer receipt of merchandise, which is based on shipping terms
and historical delivery transit times. Amounts relating to shipping and handling billed to customers in a sale
transaction are classified as Net Sales and the related direct shipping and handling costs are classified as Stores and
Distribution Expense in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income.
Sales are recorded net of an allowance for estimated returns, associate discounts, and promotions and other similar
customer incentives. The Company estimates reserves for sales returns based on historical experience. The sales return
reserve was $9.5 million, $8.0 million and $9.3 million at January 31, 2015, February 1, 2014 and February 2, 2013,
respectively.

The Company sells gift cards in its stores and through direct-to-consumer operations. The Company accounts for gift
cards sold to customers by recognizing a liability at the time of sale. Gift cards sold to customers do not expire or lose
value over periods of inactivity. The liability remains on the Company’s books until the Company recognizes income
from gift cards. Income from gift cards is recognized at the earlier of redemption by the customer (recognized as Net
Sales) or when the Company determines that the likelihood of redemption is remote, referred to as gift card breakage
(recognized as Other Operating Income). The Company determines the probability of the gift card being redeemed to
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be remote based on historical redemption patterns. The gift card liability was $36.9 million and $42.5 million at
January 31, 2015 and February 1, 2014, respectively.

The Company is not required by law to escheat the value of unredeemed gift cards to the states in which it operates.
The Company recognized in Other Operating Income gift card breakage of $5.8 million, $8.8 million and $6.9 million
for Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively.

The Company does not include tax amounts collected as part of the sales transaction in its net sales results.
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COST OF GOODS SOLD

Cost of goods sold primarily comprises cost incurred to ready inventory for sale, including product costs, freight, and
import cost, as well as provision for reserves for shrink and lower of cost or market. Gains and losses associated with
foreign currency exchange contracts related to hedging of inventory purchases are also recognized in cost of goods
sold when the inventory being hedged is sold.

STORES AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSE

Stores and distribution expense includes store payroll, store management, rent, utilities and other landlord expenses,
depreciation and amortization, repairs and maintenance and other store support functions, as well as
Direct-to-Consumer expense and Distribution Center (“DC”) expense.

Shipping and handling costs, including costs incurred to store, move and prepare merchandise for shipment, and costs
incurred to physically move merchandise to customers, associated with direct-to-consumer operations were $108.1
million, $93.4 million and $78.6 million for Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively. Handling costs,
including costs incurred to store, move and prepare merchandise for shipment to stores were $52.2 million, $53.9
million and $59.4 million for Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively. These amounts are recorded in
Stores and Distribution Expense in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss)
Income. Costs incurred to physically move merchandise to stores is recorded in Cost of Goods Sold in the Company's
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income.

MARKETING, GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE

Marketing, general and administrative expense includes: photography and social media; store marketing; home office
compensation, except for those departments included in stores and distribution expense; information technology;
outside services such as legal and consulting; relocation; recruiting; samples and travel expenses.

RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

Restructuring charges consist of exit costs and other costs associated with the reorganization of the Company's
operations, including employee termination costs, lease contract termination costs, impairment of assets, and any other
qualifying exit costs. Costs associated with exit or disposal activities are recorded when the liability is incurred or
when such costs are deemed probable and estimable and represent the Company's best estimates.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME, NET

Other operating income, net included income of $10.2 million, $9.0 million and $4.8 million related to insurance
recoveries for Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively; $5.8 million, $8.8 million and $6.9 million for
Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively, related to gift card balances whose likelihood of redemption
has been determined remote and a loss of $2.0 million in Fiscal 2014, and gains of $2.9 million and $3.3 million in
Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively, attributed to foreign currency transactions. Other operating income, net for
Fiscal 2012 also included a gain of $2.5 million related to the net impact of changes in valuation related to
other-than-temporary impairments associated with auction rate securities ("ARS").

WEBSITE AND ADVERTISING COSTS
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Advertising costs are comprised of in-store photography, e-mail distribution and other digital direct advertising, and
other media advertising. Beginning in Fiscal 2014, costs associated with cross-channel brand engagement campaigns
and marketing events have been classified as advertising costs. Accordingly, the advertising expense disclosures for
Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012 have been revised to reflect this change. The production of in-store photography and
signage are expensed when the marketing campaign commences as a component of Marketing, General and
Administrative Expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income. Website
and other advertising costs related specifically to direct-to-consumer operations are expensed as incurred as a
component of Stores and Distribution Expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive
(Loss) Income. All other advertising costs are expensed as incurred as a component of Marketing, General and
Administrative Expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income. The
Company recognized $84.6 million, $68.1 million and $59.0 million in advertising expense in Fiscal 2014, Fiscal
2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively.
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LEASED FACILITIES

The Company leases property for its stores under operating leases. Lease agreements may contain construction
allowances, rent escalation clauses and/or contingent rent provisions.

Annual store rent is comprised of a fixed minimum amount and/or contingent rent based on a percentage of sales. For
construction allowances, the Company records a deferred lease credit on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and
amortizes the deferred lease credit as a reduction of rent expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive (Loss) Income over the term of the lease. For scheduled rent escalation clauses during the lease term,
the Company records minimum rental expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income. The difference between rent expense and the amounts
paid under the lease, less amounts attributable to the repayment of construction allowances recorded as deferred rent,
is included in Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The term over which the
Company amortizes construction allowances and minimum rental expenses on a straight-line basis begins on the date
of initial possession, which is generally when the Company enters the space and begins construction.

Certain leases provide for contingent rents, which are determined as a percentage of gross sales. The Company records
a contingent rent liability in Accrued Expenses on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and the corresponding rent
expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income on a ratable basis over the
measurement period when it is determined that achieving the specified levels during the fiscal year is probable. In
addition, most leases require payment of real estate taxes, insurance and certain common area maintenance costs in
addition to future minimum lease payments.

A summary of rent expense follows (in thousands):
2014 2013 2012

Store rent:
Fixed minimum(1) $432,794 $464,937 $414,061
Contingent 8,886 8,624 16,828
Deferred lease credits amortization (38,437 ) (45,899 ) (45,926 )
Total store rent expense 403,243 427,662 384,963
Buildings, equipment and other 4,619 4,987 6,259
Total rent expense $407,862 $432,649 $391,222

(1) Includes lease termination fees of $12.4 million, $39.2 million and $3.4 million for Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and
Fiscal 2012, respectively. For Fiscal 2014 and Fiscal 2013, lease termination fees of $6.8 million and $39.1 million,
respectively, related to the Gilly Hicks restructuring.

At January 31, 2015, the Company was committed to non-cancelable leases with remaining terms of one to 16 years.
Excluded from the obligations below are portions of lease terms that are currently cancelable at the Company's
discretion without condition. While included in the obligations below, in many instances the Company has options to
terminate certain leases if stated sales volume levels are not met or the Company ceases operations in a given country,
which may be subject to lease termination policies. A summary of operating lease commitments, including leasehold
financing obligations, under non-cancelable leases follows (in thousands):
Fiscal 2015 $409,046
Fiscal 2016 $366,909
Fiscal 2017 $279,960
Fiscal 2018 $210,674
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Fiscal 2019 $165,307
Thereafter $525,286
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LEASEHOLD FINANCING OBLIGATIONS

In certain lease arrangements, the Company is involved in, or is deemed to be involved in, the construction or
modification of the building. If it is determined that the Company has substantially all of the risks of ownership during
construction of the leased property and therefore is deemed to be the owner of the construction project, the Company
records an asset for the amount of the total project costs, including the portion funded by the landlord, and an amount
related to the value attributed to the pre-existing leased building in Property and Equipment, Net, and a corresponding
financing obligation in Leasehold Financing Obligations, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Once construction is
complete, if it is determined that the asset does not qualify for sale-leaseback accounting treatment, the Company
continues to amortize the obligation over the lease term and depreciates the asset over its useful life. The Company
allocates a portion of its rent obligation to the assets which are owned for accounting purposes as a reduction of the
financing obligation and interest expense. As of January 31, 2015 and February 1, 2014, the Company had $50.5
million and $60.7 million, respectively, of long-term liabilities related to leasehold financing obligations. Total
interest expense related to landlord financing obligations was $6.2 million, $6.6 million and $6.8 million for Fiscal
2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively.

STORE PRE-OPENING EXPENSES

Pre-opening expenses related to new store openings are expensed as incurred and are reflected as a component of
"Stores and Distribution Expense."

DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Costs to design and develop the Company’s merchandise are expensed as incurred and are reflected as a component of
“Marketing, General and Administrative Expense.”

NET INCOME PER SHARE

Net income per basic and diluted share is computed based on the weighted-average number of outstanding shares of
Class A Common Stock (“Common Stock”).

Weighted-Average Shares Outstanding and Anti-Dilutive Shares (in thousands):
2014 2013 2012

Shares of Common Stock issued 103,300 103,300 103,300
Treasury shares (31,515 ) (26,143 ) (21,360 )
Weighted-Average — Basic shares 71,785 77,157 81,940
Dilutive effect of share-based compensation awards 1,152 1,509 1,235
Weighted-Average — Diluted shares 72,937 78,666 83,175
Anti-dilutive shares (1) 6,144 4,630 5,228

(1) Reflects the number of shares subject to outstanding share-based compensation awards but excluded from the
computation of net income per diluted share because the impact would be anti-dilutive.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

See Note 3, “SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION.”
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Account Standards Update ("ASU") No.
2013-11, "Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax
Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists," which amends Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 740, "Income
Taxes." The amendments provide guidance on the financial statement presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit as
either a reduction of a deferred tax asset or as a liability, when a net operating loss carryforward, similar tax loss or a
tax credit carryforward exists. The amendments were effective at the beginning of Fiscal 2014. The adoption of this
guidance did not have an impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers," which supersedes the
revenue recognition requirements in "Revenue Recognition (Topic 605)." The new ASC guidance requires entities to
recognize revenue in a way that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration which the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. This
guidance is effective for the Company beginning Fiscal 2017, and is to be applied retrospectively, with early
application not permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of this standard.

In June 2014, FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, "Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of an Award
Provide That a Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period," which amends ASC 718,
"Compensation—Stock Compensation." The amendment provides guidance on the treatment of share-based payments
awards with a specific performance target, requiring that a performance target that affects vesting and that could be
achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance condition. This guidance is effective for the
Company at the beginning of Fiscal 2016 with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this amendment is not
expected to have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In February 2015, FASB issued ASU No. 2015-02, "Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation
Analysis." These amendments provide guidance which change the analysis that a reporting entity must perform to
determine whether it should consolidate certain types of legal entities. This guidance is effective for the Company at
the beginning of Fiscal 2017 with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this amendment is not expected to have a
material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

3. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Financial Statement Impact

The Company recognized share-based compensation expense of $23.0 million, $53.5 million and $52.9 million for
Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively. The Company also recognized $8.6 million, $20.3 million and
$20.1 million in tax benefits related to share-based compensation for Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012,
respectively.

The fair value of share-based compensation awards is recognized as compensation expense primarily on a straight-line
basis over the awards’ requisite service period, net of estimated forfeitures, with the exception of performance share
awards. Performance share award expense is primarily recognized in the performance period of the awards' requisite
service period. For awards that are expected to result in a tax deduction, a deferred tax asset is recorded in the period
in which share-based compensation expense is recognized. A current tax deduction arises upon the vesting of
restricted stock units and performance share awards or the exercise of stock options and stock appreciation rights and

Edgar Filing: ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO /DE/ - Form 10-K

91



is principally measured at the award’s intrinsic value. If the tax deduction is greater than the recorded deferred tax
asset, the tax benefit associated with any excess deduction is considered an excess tax benefit and is recognized as
additional paid-in capital. If the tax deduction is less than the recorded deferred tax asset, the resulting difference, or
shortfall, is first charged to additional paid-in capital, to the extent of the windfall pool of excess tax benefits, with any
remainder recognized as tax expense. The Company’s windfall pool of excess tax benefits as of January 31, 2015, is
sufficient to fully absorb any shortfall which may develop associated with awards currently outstanding.

The Company adjusts share-based compensation expense on a quarterly basis for actual forfeitures and for changes to
the estimate of expected award forfeitures. The effect of adjusting the forfeiture rate is recognized in the period the
forfeiture estimate is changed. The effect of adjustments for forfeitures was $2.6 million, $2.3 million and $1.3
million for Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012, respectively.
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The Company issues shares of Common Stock from treasury stock upon exercise of stock options and stock
appreciation rights and vesting of restricted stock units, including those converted from performance share awards. As
of January 31, 2015, the Company had sufficient treasury stock available to settle stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock units and performance share awards outstanding. Settlement of stock awards in Common Stock
also requires that the Company has sufficient shares available in stockholder-approved plans at the applicable time.

In the event, at each reporting date during which share-based compensation awards remain outstanding, there are not
sufficient shares of Common Stock available to be issued under the Amended and Restated Abercrombie & Fitch Co.
2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2007 LTIP”) and the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan
(the “2005 LTIP”), or under a successor or replacement plan, the Company may be required to designate some portion
of the outstanding awards to be settled in cash, which would result in liability classification of such awards. The fair
value of liability-classified awards is re-measured each reporting date until such awards no longer remain outstanding
or until sufficient shares of Common Stock become available to be issued under the existing plans or under a
successor or replacement plan. As long as the awards are required to be classified as a liability, the change in fair
value would be recognized in current period expense based on the requisite service period rendered.

Plans

As of January 31, 2015, the Company had two primary share-based compensation plans: the 2005 LTIP, under which
the Company grants stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units and performance share awards to associates of the
Company and non-associate members of the Company's Board of Directors, and the 2007 LTIP, under which the
Company grants stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units and performance share awards to associates of the
Company. The Company also has four other share-based compensation plans under which it granted stock options and
restricted stock units to associates of the Company and non-associate members of the the Company's Board of
Directors in prior years.

The 2007 LTIP, a stockholder-approved plan, permits the Company to annually grant awards covering up to 2.0
million of underlying shares of the Company's Common Stock for each type of award, per eligible participant, plus
any unused annual limit from prior years. The 2005 LTIP, a stockholder-approved plan, permits the Company to
annually grant awards covering up to 250,000 of underlying shares of the Company's Common Stock for each award
type to any associate of the Company (other than the Chief Executive Officer (the "CEO")) who is subject to
Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, at the time of the grant, plus any unused annual limit
from prior years. In addition, any non-associate director of the Company is eligible to receive awards under the 2005
LTIP. Under both plans, stock appreciation rights and restricted stock units vest primarily over four years for
associates, while performance share awards are primarily earned and vest over the performance period. Under the
2005 LTIP, restricted stock units typically vest after approximately one year for non-associate directors of the
Company. Under both plans, stock options have a ten-year term and stock appreciation rights have up to a ten-year
term, subject to forfeiture under the terms of the plans. The plans provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change of
control as defined in the plans.

Stock Options

The Company did not grant any stock options during Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012. Below is a summary
of stock option activity for Fiscal 2014:

Number of
Underlying
Shares

Weighted-
Average
Exercise Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Life
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Outstanding at February 1, 2014 532,400 $65.37
Granted — —
Exercised (7,500 ) 33.74
Forfeited or expired (196,800 ) 67.79
Outstanding at January 31, 2015 328,100 $64.64 $310,100 2.6
Stock options exercisable at January 31, 2015 328,100 $64.64 $310,100 2.6

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised was insignificant during Fiscal 2014 and Fiscal 2013, and was $2.0
million during Fiscal 2012.
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The grant date fair value of stock options that vested was insignificant during Fiscal 2014 and Fiscal 2013, and was
$1.3 million during Fiscal 2012.

As of January 31, 2015, all compensation cost related to currently outstanding stock options had been fully
recognized.

Stock Appreciation Rights

The following table summarizes stock appreciation rights activity for Fiscal 2014:
Number of
Underlying
Shares

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

Outstanding at February 1, 2014 8,982,959 $ 40.76
Granted 512,216 36.31
Exercised (92,475 ) 26.92
Forfeited or expired (449,025 ) 48.03
Outstanding at January 31, 2015 8,953,675 $ 40.28 $5,099,000 2.6
Stock appreciation rights exercisable at
January 31, 2015 8,152,634 $ 40.17 $5,099,000 2.0

Stock appreciation rights expected to become
exercisable in the future as of January 31, 2015 739,920 $ 41.69 $— 8.6

The Company estimates the fair value of stock appreciation rights using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model,
which requires the Company to estimate the expected term of the stock appreciation rights and expected future stock
price volatility over the expected term. Estimates of expected terms, which represent the expected periods of time the
Company believes stock appreciation rights will be outstanding, are based on historical experience. Estimates of
expected future stock price volatility are based on the volatility of the Company's Common Stock price for the most
recent historical period equal to the expected term of the stock appreciation right, as appropriate. The Company
calculates the volatility as the annualized standard deviation of the differences in the natural logarithms of the weekly
stock closing price, adjusted for stock splits and dividends. The weighted-average assumptions used in the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model for stock appreciation rights granted during Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal
2012 were as follows:

Executive Officers All Other Associates
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012

Grant date market price $35.08 $46.57 $52.89 $37.05 $43.86 $51.31
Exercise price $35.49 $46.57 $52.89 $37.22 $43.86 $51.31
Fair value $12.85 $20.34 $23.53 $12.92 $16.17 $21.90
Assumptions:
Price volatility 49 % 61 % 56 % 50 % 53 % 61 %
Expected term (years) 4.9 4.7 5.0 4.1 4.1 4.1
Risk-free interest rate 1.6 % 0.7 % 1.3 % 1.4 % 0.7 % 0.9 %
Dividend yield 2.0 % 1.8 % 1.1 % 1.9 % 1.8 % 1.2 %

Compensation expense for stock appreciation rights is recognized on a straight-line basis over the awards' requisite
service period, net of forfeitures. As of January 31, 2015, there was $8.0 million of total unrecognized compensation
cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to stock appreciation rights. The unrecognized compensation cost is expected
to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 16 months.
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The total intrinsic value of stock appreciation rights exercised during Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012 was
$1.5 million, $8.5 million and $0.9 million, respectively. The grant date fair value of stock appreciation rights that
vested during Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012 was $7.4 million, $83.7 million and $24.1 million,
respectively.
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Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes the activity for restricted stock units for Fiscal 2014:
Service-based Restricted Stock
Units

Performance-based Restricted
Stock Units

Market-based Restricted Stock
Units

Number of 
Underlying
Shares

Weighted-Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Number of 
Underlying
Shares

Weighted-Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Number of 
Underlying
Shares

Weighted-Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Unvested at February
1, 2014 1,162,825 $ 47.15 263,754 $ 40.93 — $ —

Granted 1,019,363 32.45 177,006 26.61 88,500 42.44
Adjustments for
performance
achievement relative
to award target

— — (98,483 ) 44.51 — —

Vested (355,796 ) 48.00 (10,002 ) 51.50 — —
Forfeited (260,120 ) 44.59 (126,855 ) 31.71 (52,126 ) 44.05
Unvested at January
31, 2015 1,566,272 $ 37.81 205,420 $ 32.05 36,374 $ 40.13

The fair value of both service-based and performance-based restricted stock units is calculated using the market price
of the underlying Common Stock on the date of grant reduced for anticipated dividend payments on unvested shares.
In determining the fair value, the Company does not take into account any performance-based vesting requirements.
The performance-based vesting requirements are taken into account in determining the number of awards expected to
vest and the related expense. However, for market-based restricted stock units, the fair value is calculated using a
Monte Carlo simulation with the number of shares that ultimately vest dependent on the Company's total stockholder
return measured against the total stockholder return of a select group of peer companies over a three-year period. For
any award with performance-based or market-based vesting requirements, the number of shares that ultimately vest
can vary from 0% - 200% of target depending on the level of achievement of performance criteria.

Service-based restricted stock units are expensed on a straight-line basis over the total requisite service period, net of
forfeitures. Performance-based restricted stock units are expensed on an accelerated attribution basis, net of
forfeitures. Market-based restricted stock units without graded vesting features are expensed on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period, net of forfeitures.

As of January 31, 2015, there was $33.6 million, $0.8 million, and $1.0 million of total unrecognized compensation
cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to service-based, performance-based and market-based restricted stock units,
respectively. The unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 16
months, 7 months, and 14 months for service-based, performance-based and market-based restricted stock units,
respectively.

Additional information pertaining to restricted stock units for Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2012 follows:
(in thousands) Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012
Service-based Restricted Stock Units:
Total grant date fair value of awards granted $33,075 $23,192 $29,297
Total grant date fair value of awards vested 17,078 14,535 19,532
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Performance-based Restricted Stock Units:
Total grant date fair value of awards granted $4,709 $10,814 $773
Total grant date fair value of awards vested 515 515 —

Market-based Restricted Stock Units:
Total grant date fair value of awards granted $3,756 $— $—
Total grant date fair value of awards vested — — —
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The weighted-average assumptions for market-based restricted stock units used in the Monte Carlo simulations during
Fiscal 2014 were as follows:

Fiscal 2014
Grant date market price $36.20
Fair value $40.42
Assumptions:
Price volatility 49 %
Expected term (years) 2.7
Risk-free interest rate 0.8 %
Dividend yield 2.2 %
Average volatility of peer companies 36.0 %
Average correlation coefficient of peer companies 0.3704

4. RABBI TRUST ASSETS

Investments of Rabbi Trust assets consisted of the following:

(in thousands) January 31,
2015

February 1,
2014

Rabbi Trust assets:
Trust-owned life insurance policies (at cash surrender value) $93,424 $90,198
Money market funds 24 24
Total Rabbi Trust assets $93,448 $90,222

The irrevocable rabbi trust (the “Rabbi Trust”) is intended to be used as a source of funds to match respective funding
obligations to participants in the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Nonqualified Savings and Supplemental Retirement Plan I,
the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Nonqualified Savings and Supplemental Retirement Plan II and the Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan. The Rabbi Trust assets primarily consist of trust-owned life insurance policies which are
recorded at cash surrender value. The change in cash surrender value of the trust-owned life insurance policies held in
the Rabbi Trust resulted in realized gains of $3.2 million, $2.6 million and $2.4 million for Fiscal 2014, Fiscal 2013
and Fiscal 2012, respectively, recorded in Interest Expense, Net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive (Loss) Income.

The Rabbi Trust assets are included in Other Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are restricted in their use
as noted above.
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5. FAIR VALUE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The inputs used to measure fair value are prioritized based on a
three-level hierarchy. The three levels of inputs to measure fair value are as follows:

•Level 1 — inputs are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities that are available in active markets that
the Company can access at the measurement date.

•Level 2 — inputs are other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are observable for assets or liabilities,
directly or indirectly.
•Level 3 — inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable.

The lowest level of significant input determines the placement of the entire fair value measurement in the hierarchy.
The three levels of the hierarchy and the distribution within it of the Company’s assets and liabilities, measured at fair
value on a recurring basis, were as follows:

Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value as of January 31, 2015
(in thousands) Level 1    Level 2    Level 3 Total    
ASSETS:
Money market funds $122,047 $— $— $122,047
Derivative financial instruments — 10,293 — 10,293
Total assets measured at fair value $122,047 $10,293 $— $132,340
LIABILITIES:
Derivative financial instruments — — — —
Total liabilities measured at fair value $— $— $— $—

Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value as of February 1, 2014
(in thousands) Level 1    Level 2    Level 3 Total    
ASSETS:
Money market funds $148,024 $— $— $148,024
Derivative financial instruments — 969 — 969
Total assets measured at fair value $148,024 $969 $— $148,993
LIABILITIES:
Derivative financial instruments — 2,555 — 2,555
Total liabilities measured at fair value $— $2,555 $— $2,555

The level 2 assets and liabilities consist of derivative financial instruments, primarily forward foreign exchange
contracts. The fair value of forward foreign currency exchange contracts is determined by using quoted market prices
of the same or similar instruments, adjusted for counterparty risk.

Disclosures of Fair Value of Other Assets and Liabilities:

The Company's borrowings under the 2014 Credit Facilities and the 2011 and 2012 Credit Agreements are carried at
historical cost in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. For disclosure purposes, the Company estimates the
fair value of borrowings outstanding using discounted cash flow analysis based on market rates obtained from
independent third parties for similar types of debt. The inputs used to value the borrowings outstanding are considered
to be Level 2 instruments.
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The carrying amount of gross borrowings outstanding under the Term Loan Facility was $299.3 million and the fair
value of such borrowings was $295.1 million as of January 31, 2015. The carrying amount of borrowings outstanding
under the 2012 Term Loan Agreement approximated fair value and was $135.0 million as of February 1, 2014. No
borrowings were outstanding under the ABL Facility and the 2011 Credit Agreement as of January 31, 2015 and
February 1, 2014, respectively. See Note 12, "BORROWINGS," for further discussion of the Credit Facilities.
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6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment, net, consisted of (in thousands):
January 31,
2015

February 1,
2014

Land $37,473 $37,453
Buildings 286,820 296,382
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 653,929 689,815
Information technology 427,879 369,257
Leasehold improvements 1,338,206 1,414,939
Construction in progress 49,836 33,791
Other 3,107 44,075
Total $2,797,250 $2,885,712
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,830,249 ) (1,754,371 )
Property and equipment, net $967,001 $1,131,341

Long-lived assets, primarily comprising of property and equipment, are tested periodically for impairment or
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable.
Factors used in the evaluation include, but are not limited to, management’s plans for future operations, recent
operating results, and projected cash flows.

Fair value of the Company's store-related assets is determined at the individual store level, primarily using a
discounted cash flow model that utilizes Level 3 inputs. The estimation of future cash flows from operating activities
requires significant estimates of factors that include future sales, gross margin performance, and operating expenses.
In instances where the discounted cash flow analysis indicated a negative value at the store level, the market exit price
based on historical experience, and other comparable market data where applicable, was used to determine the fair
value by asset type.

In Fiscal 2014, the Company incurred non-cash asset impairment charges of $45.0 million, excluding impairment
charges incurred in connection with the Gilly Hicks restructuring, as it was determined that the carrying value of
certain assets would not be recoverable and exceeded fair value. The asset impairment charges primarily related to the
Company's Abercrombie & Fitch flagship store locations in Tokyo, Japan and Seoul, Korea, as well as
nine abercrombie kids stores and nine Hollister stores. Additionally, in connection with the Company's plan to sell the
its corporate aircraft, the asset was classified as available-for-sale and the Company incurred charges of approximately
$11.3 million to record the expected loss on the disposal of the asset. The fair value of the Company's corporate
aircraft was determined using a market approach utilizing level 2 inputs.

In Fiscal 2013, the Company incurred non-cash asset impairment charges of $46.7 million, excluding impairment
charges incurred in connection with the Gilly Hicks restructuring, as a result of the impact of sales trends on the
profitability of a number of stores identified in the third quarter of Fiscal 2013 as well as fiscal year-end review of
store-related long-lived assets. The non-cash asset impairment charges primarily related to 23 Abercrombie & Fitch
stores, four abercrombie kids stores, and 70 Hollister stores. In addition, the Company incurred charges of $37.9
million related to the Gilly Hicks restructuring.

In Fiscal 2012, as a result of the fiscal year-end review of long-lived store-related assets, the Company incurred
non-cash store-related asset impairment charges of $7.4 million. The asset impairment charge was related to one
Abercrombie & Fitch stores, three abercrombie kids stores, 12 Hollister stores, and one Gilly Hicks store.
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See Note 15, “GILLY HICKS RESTRUCTURING," for additional information about asset impairment charges
incurred in connection with the Company's restructuring of the Gilly Hicks brand.

In certain lease arrangements, the Company is involved in the construction of the building. If it is determined that the
Company has substantially all of the risks of ownership during construction of the leased property and therefore is
deemed to be the owner of the construction project, the Company records an asset for the amount of the total project
costs, including the portion funded by the landlord, and an amount related to the value attributed to the pre-existing
leased building in Property and Equipment, Net, and a corresponding financing obligation in Leasehold Financing
Obligations, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Once construction is complete, if it is determined that the asset does
not qualify for sale-leaseback accounting treatment, the Company continues to amortize the obligation over the lease
term and depreciates the asset over its useful life. The Company had $40.1
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million and $52.3 million of construction project assets in Property and Equipment, Net at January 31, 2015 and
February 1, 2014, respectively.

7. OTHER ASSETS

Other assets consisted of (in thousands):
January 31,
2015

February 1,
2014

Non-current deferred tax assets $96,999 $97,587
Rabbi Trust 93,448 90,222
Long-term deposits 64,415 68,886
Long-term supplies 31,565 36,008
Intellectual property 27,943 30,987
Restricted cash 14,835 26,686
Prepaid income tax on intercompany items 9,968 12,421
Other 34,021 36,293
Other assets $373,194 $399,090

Long-term supplies include, but are not limited to, hangers, frames, sign holders, security tags, back-room supplies,
and construction materials. Intellectual property primarily includes trademark assets associated with the Company's
International operations, consisting of finite-lived and indefinite-lived intangible assets of approximately $15.3
million and $12.6 million, respectively, as of January 31, 2015, and finite-lived and indefinite-lived intangible assets
of approximately $16.3 million and $14.7 million, respectively, as of February 1, 2014. The Company's finite-lived
intangible assets are amortized over a useful life of 10 to 20 years. Restricted cash includes various cash deposits with
international banks that are used as collateral for customary non-debt banking commitments and deposits into trust
accounts to conform to standard insurance security requirements. Other includes prepaid leases and various other
assets.

8. DEFERRED LEASE CREDITS

Deferred lease credits are derived from payments received from landlords to wholly or partially offset store
construction costs and are classified between current and long-term liabilities. The amounts, which are amortized over
the respective terms of the related leases, consisting of the following (in thousands):

January 31,
2015

February 1,
2014
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